

Volume 15 Number 3 September 1997

ISSN 0253-8768

JOURNAL OF Diarrhoeal Diseases Research

INTERNATIONAL CENTRE FOR DIARRHOEAL DISEASE RESEARCH, BANGLADESH Editor-in-Chief R Eeckels E-mail: roger.eeckels@med.kuleuven.ac.be

Deputy Editor -in-Chief GH Rabbani E-mail: rabbani@icddrb.org

North American Editor M Bennish E-mail: mbennish@es.nemc.org

Managing Editor M Shamsul Islam Khan E-mail: msik@icddrb.org

Section Editors Clinicopathological Conference, ICDDR,B D Habte and PK Bardhan



Editorial Advisory Board

KMA Aziz	D Barua	M Bennish	MK Bhan	CF Disation 1	
Bangladesh	Switzerland	USA	India	India	HJ Binder USA
RE Black	DJ Bradley	KH Brown	J-P Butzler	RK Chandra	RR Colwell
USA	UK	USA	Belgium	Canada	USA
RI Glass	WB Greenough III	K Gyr	A Hall	JR Hamilton	FJ Henry
USA	USA	Switzerland	UK	Canada	USA
J Holmgren	A Huq	GT Keusch	MA Khaled	E Lebenthal	D Mahalanabis
Sweden	USA	USA	USA	USA	India
J Martinez	VI Mathan	WH Mosley	LN Mutanda	PDS Ocampo	NF Pierce
Switzerland	India	USA	Kenya	Philippines	
M Rahman	J Rask-Madsen	R Robins-Browne	SC Sanyal	R Suskind	Y Takeda
Bangladesh	Denmark	Australia	India	USA	
A Tomkins UK	S Tzipori USA	JA Walker-Smith UK			Jupan
Publication and MA Rahim	l Printing	Cover Design Asem Ansari		Page Layout Mahbubul Hoque	

Subscription information

Subscriptions to JDDR run for a full calendar year and include air mail postage. The 1998 rates are as follows:

SAARC and other developing countries Developed countries Bangladesh		Institution "	US\$ US\$ Taka	60.00 80.00 500.00	Individual "	US\$ US\$	30.00 40.00
	-		Taka	500.00		Taka	500.00

Subscription orders may be placed through an agent or directly; 10% commission is allowed for subscription agents. All payments must be made in favour of the International Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease Research, Bangladesh. All correspondence regarding subscription should be addressed to: Managing Editor, Journal of Diarrhoeal Diseases Research, International Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease Research, Bangladesh, Mohakhali, Dhaka 1212 (GPO Box 128, Dhaka 1000), Bangladesh.

Copyright © 1997 International Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease Research, Bangladesh Published by: International Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease Research, Bangladesh Mohakhali, Dhaka 1212, Bangladesh. E-mail: msik@icddrb.org Fax: 880-2-883116 / 880-2-886050 Telex: 675612 ICDD BJ Phone: (880-2) -882467, 871751-871760 (PABX) Cable: CHOLERA DHAKA



JOURNAL OF Diarrhoeal Diseases Research

JOURNAL OF DIARRHOEAL DISEASES RESEARCH

Volume 15 Number 3

September 1997

CONTENTS

ORIGINAL PAPERS

- 155 Persistent Diarrhoea in Nigerian Children Aged Less Than Five Years: A Hospital-Based Study. Olugbemiro Sodeinde, Adebowale A Adeyemo, Rasheed A Gbadegesin, and Olusegun G Ademowo
- 161 Breast-feeding Promotion in a Diarrhoea Programme in Rural Communities. Anita A Davies-Adetugbo, K Adetugbo, Y Orewole, and A K Fabiyi
- 167 Grandma Ahead of Her Time: Traditional Ways of Diarrhoea Management in Lesotho. Stina Almroth, Makhamokha Mohale, and Michael C Latham
- 173 Isolation of Escherichia coli to Detect Faecal Contamination of Infants and Their Mothers in West Bengal. S Dutta, SK Mondal, MR Saha, PG Sengupta, DN Gupta, S Ghosh, and BK Sircar
- 177 Snow Mountain-Like Virus Identified in Young Children with Winter Vomiting Disease in South Africa. A Duncan Steele, Jim Phillips, Therésa K Smit, Ina Peenze, and Xi Jiang

FROM THE INTERNET

- 183 Introduction
- 184 WHO Vaccine Research Development Steering Committee: Diarrhoeal Diseases
- 190 Multidrug-Resistant Enteroaggregative Escherichia coli Associated with Persistent Diarrhoea in Kenyan Children

BIBLIOGRAPHY ON DIARRHOEAL DISEASES

- 193 Contents
- 195 Bibliography
- v Author index
- viii Source index

INFORMATION FOR CONTRIBUTORS

Persistent Diarrhoea in Nigerian Children Aged Less Than Five Years: A Hospital-Based Study

Olugbemiro Sodeinde¹, Adebowale A Adeyemo¹, Rasheed A Gbadegesin¹, and Olusegun G Ademowo²

¹Department of Paediatrics, University College Hospital, Ibadan; ²Postgraduate Institute of Medical Research and Training, University of Ibadan, Nigeria

ABSTRACT

To identify possible risk factors for persistent diarrhoea, 307 children with acute diarrhoea presenting at the University College Hospital, Ibadan, Nigeria over a 10-month period from July 1993 to April 1994 were followed up prospectively until the resolution of the illness. The children were aged 6-60 months. In 36 (11.7%) of them, diarrhoea became persistent (i.e. lasted more than 14 days). This hospital frequency of 11.7% of persistent diarrhoea is, as expected, higher than the figures from previous community-based studies of diarrhoea from Nigeria. The major factor associated with persistent diarrhoea was poor nutritional status. Mean *z* scores of weight-for-height and weight-for-age were significantly lower in the persistent diarrhoea group, while mean *z* scores of height-for-age were similar in the two groups. The frequencies of occurrence of undernutrition, marasmus and kwashiorkor were also higher in the persistent diarrhoea group. Therefore, in common with studies from other regions of the world, malnutrition is an important risk factor for persistent diarrhoea in this group of Nigerian children. The implication of these findings is that reduction in the prevalence of malnutrition may be associated with reduction in the proportion of acute diarrhoeal episodes that eventually progress to persistent diarrhoea.

*Key words:*Diarrhoea, Persistent; Diarrhoea, Infantile; Diarrhoea, Acute; Risk factors; Prospective studies; Child nutritional status; Child nutrition disorders

INTRODUCTION

Persistent diarrhoea remains an important clinical and epidemiological entity, because it carries a higher risk of mortality and has a greater impact on nutritional status than acute diarrhoea (1). Risk factors for persistent diarrhoea include poor nutritional status, prior recent diarrhoeal illness, and impaired immunocompetence (1-8). Although estimates indicate that 3-23% of acute diarrhoea episodes become persistent (1), the incidence of persistent diarrhoea from various studies ranges from 7 to 10 episodes per 100 child-years (1,4).

There are very few studies of persistent diarrhoea from Africa. Two studies have noted the relatively low frequency of persistent diarrhoea in Nigerian children. Oyejide *et al.* (9) found that of the 420 children in four village clusters in Oyo State followed up for six months, only 4.7% of all episodes of diarrhoea became persistent. In another study, Ekanem *et al.* (10) found that persistent diarrhoea accounted for only 2.4% of 251 episodes of diarrhoea observed in 628 children over a three-and-a-half-month period. The reasons for this low proportion of cases of diarrhoea that become persistent are currently unknown. To investigate persistent diarrhoea in Nigeria further, we undertook a prospective hospital-based study to

describe the characteristics of children with persistent diarrhoea and to compare these characteristics with children presenting with acute diarrhoea.

METHODS AND MATERIALS

This study was carried out between July 1993 and April 1994. The patients recruited into the study consisted of 307 children aged 6-60 months who presented with acute diarrhoea to the outpatient clinic at the University College Hospital, Ibadan and who were followed up for at least 15 days from the onset of diarrhoea. Diarrhoea was defined as 3 or more loose bowel motions in the preceding 24 hours (11). Information was obtained from each child's mother at presentation and included the age (in completed months) and sex of the child, the duration of diarrhoea, the presence of blood or mucus in the stools, and the presence of any other symptoms, e.g. fever and vomiting. Information was also sought on any treatment given at home prior to presentation in hospital, including use of oral rehydration therapy, drugs and herbal preparations. Information was further obtained on the mode of feeding, specifically whether the child was on breast feeding, bottle feeding, weaning or adult diet or a combination of any of the above. On presentation, a full clinical examination was done. Rectal temperature was measured on admission using a mercury clinical thermometre. Each child's weight, in kilogram, height in centimetres and mid-upper arm circumference in centimetres were measured using standard methods. For those patients who were dehydrated on presentation, anthropometry was done after rehydration. Nutritional status was assessed in three ways: using the Wellcome classification (12), the NCHS standards (13), and the mid-upper arm circumference. Each child's weight and height (length for children aged 6-24 months) were transformed into z scores of the indices: weight-for-height, height-for-age and weight-for-age of the NCHS reference population using Epi Info version 6 (14). In addition, the Wellcome classification was used for classifying each child into 'normal,' 'underweight,' 'marasmus,' 'kwashiorkor' and 'marasmic kwashiorkor' using the criteria of weight-for-age and presence of peripheral oedema (12). All subjects were screened for malaria parasitaemia by means of Giemsa-stained thick peripheral blood films. All the children were followed up in the outpatients until the resolution of diarrhoea. Those children whose diarrhoeal illness lasted more than 14 days were described as having persistent diarrhoea, while those whose illnesses lasted up to 14 days were described as having acute diarrhoea (11). Data entry and analysis were done using Epi Info 6 (14). Associations between categorical variables were explored by means of the chi square test with Yates' correction, or Fisher's exact test. Differences between the means of continuous variables were analysed using Student's t test. We have assumed statistical difference at a probability (p) of £ 0.05.

RESULTS

Of the 307 children, 36 (11.7%) had persistent diarrhoea, while the remaining 271 (88.3%) had acute diarrhoea. The age and sex distribution of the children are shown in Table I. About one half of all the children were aged 6-12 months. There was a male preponderance in both groups, although there was no statistically significant association between persistent diarrhoea and male gender. Similar proportions of both groups (51% of the persistent diarrhoea group and 55% of the acute diarrhoea group) were fully immunised for their ages at the time of presentation. Among those children aged 6-18 months, persistent diarrhoea was observed in similar proportions of those being currently breastfed and those not being breastfed.

Exposure to individuals with diarrhoea

The exposure of the children to other individuals with diarrhoea in the two-week period preceding the onset of diarrhoea is shown in Table II. Overall, exposure to other individuals with diarrhoea was low. Although children with persistent diarrhoea had been more frequently exposed to older children with diarrhoea (8.3%) than those with acute diarrhoea (0.7%), two of the three children so exposed in the persistent diarrhoea group were siblings. Regarding these two siblings as one case and re-analysing the data did not yield a significant difference as above. A previous history of persistent diarrhoea was obtained in 3 (8.3%) of children in the persistent diarrhoea group compared with 11 (4.1%) of those in the acute diarrhoea group, although odds ratio was 2.15, the difference was not significant (95% confidence interval 0.45-8.94).

	Pers	istent rhoea	Acute	e noea	S	tatistics
	(n=.	36) (%)	(n=2'	71) (%)	χ2	р
Age (months)						
6-12	19	(52.8)	133	(49.1)		
13-24	15	(41.7)	106	(39.2)		
25-36	2	(5.5)	21	(7.7)		
37-48	0	(0.0)	5	(1.8)		
49-60	0	(0.0)	6	(2.2)	1.187*	0.276
Sex						
Male	23	(63.9)	150	(55.4)		
Female	13	(36.1)	121	(44.6)	0.63	0.429
Immunisation status						
Fully immunised	18	(50.0)	149	(55.0)		
Not fully immunised	18	(50.0)	122	(45.0)	0.15	0.699
Currently breast feeding (6-18-month olds only)						
Yes	15	(60.0)	136	(71.2)		
No	10	(40.0)	55	(28.8)	0.84	0.359

Table II. Exposure to p period prior to presenting with	cople with di o onset of dia th diarrhoea	arrhoea in the rrhoea among	two-week 307 children
Individual with diarrhoea	Persistent diarrhoea (n=36) (%)	Acute diarrhoea (n=271) (%)	Statistics Fisher's exact test (p)
Mother	1 (2.8)	5 (1.8)	0.529
Adult other than mother	0 (0.0)	5 (1.8)	1.000
Child (aged: <5 years)	1 (2.8)	2 (0.7)	0.313
Older child	3 (8.3)	2 (0.7)	0.013*
* Significant at pc0.05			

Treatment before coming to hospital

Treatment given at other hospitals, dispensaries and at home before presenting in our Outpatient Department included oral rehydration therapy, antibiotics, mixture kaolin and herbal remedies given with similar frequencies in both groups (Table 3). However, children in the persistent diarrhoea group had been more frequently given antimalarial drugs than those in the acute diarrhoea group (p=0.037).

Clinical features on presentation

Children in the persistent diarrhoea group had a higher frequency of blood in the stools when compared with the acute diarrhoea group. Fever was more common in the acute diarrhoea group while a history of decreased urinary output occurred only in the acute diarrhoea group (Table IV). Other clinical features such as vomiting, anorexia, restlessness and a change in sensorium occurred in both groups with similar frequencies. Dehydration, an elevated temperature (>38 ° C) and malaria parasitaemia were more common in the acute diarrhoea group than in the persistent diarrhoea group (Table IV).

Nutritional status

Only 43% of the persistent diarrhoea group and 59% of the acute diarrhoea group could be classified as normal according to the Wellcome classification of nutritional status (Table V). Both marasmus and kwashiorkor were more common in the persistent diarrhoea group. Being underweight (weight-for-age z score < -2.00) was also more common in the persistent diarrhoea group, although most malnourished children in both groups fell into the 'underweight' category. When the severely malnourished children (marasmus, kwashiorkor and marasmic kwashiorkor) were grouped together there was a significant difference between the persistent diarrhoea and acute diarrhoea groups (chi-square for trend = 4.84, p=0.028). The mean z scores for weight-for-height (WHZ) and weight-for-age (WAZ) of the persistent diarrhoea group were significantly lower than those of the acute diarrhoea group (p<0.03). In children aged 12-60 months, the mean mid-upper arm circumference was also significantly lower for the persistent diarrhoea group when compared with the acute diarrhoea group (p<0.02). Thus, the overall picture is that those with persistent diarrhoea had worse nutritional indices than those who had acute diarrhoea.

Table III. Treatment given before presentation in hospital among 307 children with diarrhoea					
Treatment	Persistent diarrhoea (n=36) (%)	Acute diarrhoea (n=271) (%)	×2	Statistics p	
Oral rehydration therapy	11 (30.6)	77 (28.4)	0.01	0.943	
Antibiotics	10 (27.8)	60 (22.1)	0.30	0.585	
Mist kaolin	6 (16.7)	37 (13.7)	0.05	0.815	
Herbal remedies	0 (0.0)	4 (1.5)	0.00	0.961	
Antimalarial drugs	16 (44.4)	71 (26.2)	4.35	0.037*	
Antipyretic drugs	23 (63.9)	170 (62.7)	0.00	0.961	

Table IV. Clinical features observed among 307 children presenting with diarrhoea						
Clinical feature	Persistent diarrhoea (n=36)	Acute diarrhoea (n=271)	χ2	Statistics p*		
History			1000			
Blood in stools	5 (13.9)	19 (7.0)	1.24	0.265		
Mucus in stools	24 (66.7)	130 (48.0)	3.73	0.054		
Fever	20 (55.6)	203 (74.9)	5.05	0.025		
Vomiting	15 (41.7)	137 (50.6)	0.68	0.410		
Anorexia	23 (63.9)	142 (52.4)	1.26	0.262		
Decreased urine volume	0 (0.0)	17. (6.3)	1.34	0.247		
Restlessness	7 (19.4)	44 (16.2)	0.06	0.804		
Change in sensorium Findings Admission temperature	13 (36.1)	91 (33.6)	0.01	0.909		
≥38 °C	9 (25.0)	123 (45.3)	4.59	0.032		
Dehydration	1 (2.8)	31 (11.4)	1.71	0.191		
Malaria parasitaemia+	1 (2.8)	41 (15.5)	3.26	0.071		

*Significant at p<0.05. Percentages are given in parentheses + 6 children with acute diarrhoea did not have blood film for malaria parasites done

DISCUSSION

This study has described the characteristics of children seen with persistent diarrhoea in an urban hospital setting. A hospital-based design was justified in view of the reported low incidence of persistent diarrhoea in previous community-based studies in Nigeria (9,10).

Factors found to be associated with persistent diarrhoea in this study included exposure to an older child with diarrhoea in the two weeks preceding the onset of the illness and poor nutritional status. Poor nutritional status is widely recognised as one of the major risk factors for persistent diarrhoea and has been reported from a number of studies (2-4, 7-8). However, it should be noted that the children suffering from persistent diarrhoea were more wasted than stunted. This implies that short-term malnutrition (as indicated by wasting) is more important than long-term malnutrition (as indicated by stunting). Most other studies used only one index of nutritional status (usually weight-for-height). One study, which did consider other measures, found that although there was little difference in the mean duration of diarrhoea between those who were stunted and those of normal nutritional status, the difference between the wasted and normal groups was quite marked. The reason for this is uncertain. It is logical to expect that the two factors commonly invoked for the greater duration of diarrhoea in malnutrition (poor healing capacity of the intestinal epithelium and impaired immunity with inability of the body to eliminate the causative organisms) should be present in both wasted and stunted children. However, endocrine and genetic factors which may affect growth were not ruled out in this study. Further investigation of these issues seems warranted.

A history of fever and a rectal temperature greater than 38 ° C were more common in children with acute diarrhoea compared with those with persistent diarrhoea. This may be related to the higher frequency of malarial parasitaemia observed in children with acute diarrhoea which, in turn, may be due to the lower frequency of pre-hospital treatment with antimalarial drugs. The age distribution observed in our patients with persistent diarrhoea did not differ significantly from that observed in those with acute diarrhoea. This contrasts with the findings of other studies (2,4,7,8) that reported young age to be a risk factor for persistent diarrhoea. Remarkably, dehydration was far less common in children with persistent diarrhoea despite their longer duration of diarrhoea and similar pre-hospital frequencies of administration of oral rehydration therapy. This may be accounted for by differences in absolute stool volumes (which we did not measure) rather than the differences in frequency of vomiting between the two groups which was not significant (Table IV).

	Persistent	Acute	Statistics χ^2 /student's <i>t</i> test	
Nutritional status	diarrhoea	diarrhoea		
	(n=36)	(n=271)		
Wellcome classification. No (%)				
Normal	16 (44.4)	160 (59.0)		
Undernutrition	15 (41.7)	98 (36.2)		
Marasmus	3 (8.3)	9 (3.3)		
Kwashiorkor	2 (5.6)	3 (1.1)		
Marasmic kwashiorkor	0 (0.0)	1 (0.4)	$\chi^2 = 4.84*$	p=0.028
*chi-square for trend; 3 last rows collapsed				
Comparison with NCHS reference Mean (SD)	of z scores			
Weight-for-height (WHZ)*	- 1.609 (1.387)	- 1.044 (1.416)	t=2.22	p=0.026
Weight-for-age (WAZ)*	- 2.276 (1.379)	- 1.803 (1.178)	t=2.21	p=0.026
Height-for-age (HAZ)	- 1.566 (1.926)	- 1.410 (1.670)	t=0.51	p=0.618
Mid-upper arm circumference in CM Mean	(SD)			
All patients	12.7 (1.4)	13.4 (2.3)	t=1.18	p=0.070
Patients aged 12-60 months*	12.6 (1.3)	13.5 (1.4)	t=2.77	p=0.006

Although contact with an older child with diarrhoea was commoner in persistent diarrhoea, this finding cannot be given much weight since the actual numbers were small and two of the three children were siblings. The latter fact suggests a common source of infection or similar host factors predisposing both siblings to diarrhoea (which became persistent) from a specific infective agent. These non-random events preclude any generalisation of the finding.

In conclusion, we have shown that poor nutritional status is the major risk factor for persistent diarrhoea in a group of Nigerian children. The implication of these findings is that reduction in the prevalence of malnutrition may be associated with reduction in the proportion of acute diarrhoeal episodes that eventually progress to persistent diarrhoea. Further studies are needed to understand the association between persistent diarrhoea and host factors, especially nutritional status and age, and to identify factors that may be amenable to intervention.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Financial support for this research was provided by the Applied Diarrheal Disease Research project at Harvard University by means of a Co-operative Agreement with the U.S. Agency for International Development. We are also grateful to Dr. Edward Cooper and Dr. Fitzroy Henry for helpful comments.

REFERENCES

- 1. Black RE. Persistent diarrhoea in children in developing countries. *Paediatr Infect Dis J* 1993;12: 751-61.
- 2. Shahid NS, Sack DA, Rahman M, Alam AN, Rahman N. Risk factors for persistent diarrhoea. *Br Med J* 1988;297:1036-8.
- 3. Bhan MK, Bhandari N, Sazawal S, Clemens J, Raj P, Levine MM, *et al.* Descriptive epidemiology of persistent diarrhoea among young children in rural northern India. *Bull WHO* 1989;67:281-8.
- Bhandari S, Bhan MK, Sazawal S, Clemens JD, Bhatnagar S, Khoshoo V. Association of antecedent malnutrition with persistent diarrhoea: a case-control study. *Br Med J* 1989;298:1284-7.
- 5. El-Mougi M. Persistent diarrhoea. *Postgrad Doctor Afr* 1990;14:69-71.
- 6. Persistent diarrhoea (editorial). *J Trop Paediatr* 1990;36:50-1.
- Lanata CF, Black RE, Gilman RH, Lazo F, Del Aguila R. Epidemiologic, clinical and laboratory characteristics of acute versus persistent diarrhoea in periurban Lima, Peru. J Paediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1991;12:82-8.
- Baqui AH, Black RE, Sack RB, Yunus MD, Siddique AK. Epidemiologic and clinical characteristics of acute and persistent diarrhoea in rural Bangladeshi children. *Acta Paediatr* 1992;81:15-21.
- 9. Oyejide CO, Oladepo O, Oke EA. Diarrhoea among rural children: experience in Oluyole Local Government Area of Oyo State Nigeria. *Niger J Comm Med Prim Health Care* 1991;4:13-21.
- 10. Ekanem EE, Adedeji OT, Akitoye CO. Environmental and behavioural risk factors for prolonged diarrhoea in Nigerian children. *J Diarrhoeal Dis Res* 1994;12:19-24.
- 11. World Health Organization. A manual for the treatment of diarrhoea. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1990. (WHO/CDD/SER/80.2 Rev. 2 1990).

- 12. Classification of infantile malnutrition. *Lancet* 1970; 2:302-3.
- 13. National Center for Health Statistics. Growth charts. Rockville, MD: Health Resources Administration, Public Health Service, U.S. Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Rockville MD 1976; HRA 76-1120 25(3):1.
- 14. Dean AG, Dean JA, Coulombier D, Brendel KA, Smith DC, Burton AH, *et al.* Epi Info, Version 6: a word processing, database, and statistics program for epidemiology on microcomputers. G.A. Atlanta, Georgia: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1994.
- 15. Black RE, Brown KH, Becker S. Malnutrition is a determining factor in diarrheal duration, but not incidence, among young children in a longitudinal study in rural Bangladesh. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1984;37:87-94.

Breast-feeding Promotion in a Diarrhoea Programme in Rural Communities

Anita A Davies-Adetugbo,¹ K Adetugbo,¹ Y Orewole,² and A K Fabiyi¹

1College of Health Sciences, Obafemi Awolowo University, Ile Ife, Nigeria; 2Health Department, Ife South Local Government, Ifetedo, Nigeria

ABSTRACT

Breast-feeding promotion is an important intervention for the control of infant diarrhoea. This study assesses the impact of a breast-feeding counselling programme on the prevalence of exclusive breast feeding in rural communities in Nigeria. Mothers attending primary care facilities because their infants had acute diarrhoea were randomised into two groups. The study group (n=82) received individual, focused breast-feeding counselling, while the controls (n=79) had routine advice for diarrhoea. Both groups were monitored and followed with home visits to determine infant-feeding practices. The results showed marked increases in exclusive breast-feeding prevalence for the intervention group at day 7 (49% vs. 6% control; p<0.0001) and day 21 (46% vs. 8%; p<0.0001). Moreover, diarrhoea re-occurrence at day 21 was less in the intervention group (12%) than controls (18%). It is concluded that focused breast-feeding counselling can increase exclusive breast feeding and reduce the prevalence of diarrhoea in rural ommunities.

Keywords: Breast feeding; Child survival; Diarrhoea, Acute; Primary health care; Health education.

INTRODUCTION

Breast feeding is an important child survival strategy. It protects the infant from the morbidity and mortality of diarrhoea in the first few months of life (1-5). Exclusive breast feeding (breast milk only) offers the greatest protection (1,2,4,6), and child survival programmes promote breast milk only for the first 6 months of life (7-9). However, studies on child feeding practices show that, world-wide, exclusive breast feeding is rare, as breast milk is supplemented early in the child's life with water, other milks, juices, teas, and other foods and fluids (3,10-12).

Diarrhoea is a major cause of infant and child morbidity and mortality in Nigeria (13) as in most of the developing world. Although virtually all Nigerian mothers breastfeed their infants, exclusive breast feeding lacks local credibility (14,15) and less than 2% of infants are fed breast milk exclusively at 2 months of age (16).

The present study was carried out to promote exclusive breast feeding in rural communities in Nigeria where the prevalence of infant and childhood diarrhoea is especially high. The main objective was to assess the impact of a focused breast-feeding counselling programme targeting mothers of infants currently suffering from diarrhoea. The main test hypothesis is that the intervention will have no significant effect on the prevalence of exclusive breast feeding. Previous work promoting breast feeding in the same rural communities have recorded increased prevalence of early breast-feeding initiation and of full (i.e. exclusive plus predominant) breast feeding (15,17) but not of exclusive breast feeding. The results of the present study indicate that focused breast feeding counselling can significantly increase the prevalence of exclusive breast-feeding in these communities and reduce diarrhoeal morbidity.

Correspondence and reprint requests should be addresed to: Dr. Anita A Davies-Adetugbo, 39 Invicta Grove, Northolt, Middlesex, UB5 6RR, England. E-mail: adetugbo@hotmail.com

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Location

The study was carried out in Ife South Local Government (ISLG) area (district) of Osun State, Nigeria, between November 1995 and March 1996. ISLG has an estimated population (in 1996) of about 153,000 persons, living in about 450 villages and smaller settlements that are mainly Yoruba farming communities. Its health facilities consist of health centres, health clinics, and health posts, manned by community health workers (CHW). There is one doctor at the State health centre at lfetedo, the ISLG headquarters. Sanitation in ISLG communities is generally poor, and only about 15% of households have access to safe water.

At the time of the study, ISLG was actively promoting breast feeding in all its health facilities, which prominently displayed promotional posters and distributed handbills.

Samples

Mothers who had brought their young (<=3 months) infants to a primary health care facility for the treatment of diarrhoea were recruited into the study. To qualify for inclusion, the infant's diarrhoea must be uncomplicated (not bloody; dehydration mild or less; duration less than one week; no overt infections), must be manageable by oral rehydration at home and not require referral to a secondary facility. After giving informed consent, selected mother-infant pairs were randomised into one of two groups – controls and those to receive an intervention – following a sequence indicated from a table of random numbers.

Intervention

The intervention consisted of three sessions of individual breast-feeding counselling, lactation management and problem-solving for the mothers. On day 0 (presentation), mothers in the control and intervention groups were given advice on diarrhoea, focusing on home management with salt and sugar solution, discontinuation of anti-diarrhoeal agents (including antibiotics), continuation of breast feeding, avoidance of the use of feeding bottles, breast milk only, and recognition of the signs of dehydration. In addition, each of the mothers in the intervention group was given a breast-feeding and lactation management session lasting about 20 minutes on the average, at which lactation problems were discussed and solved. The counselling and problem-solving sessions were repeated at home visits to the mothers in the intervention group only on days 2 and 7, each of these sessions lasting about 30 minutes.

The breast-feeding counselling to the intervention group included messages that (a) exclusive breast feeding, without supplements or water, prevents diarrhoea in the young infant; (b) it promotes recovery from diarrhoea; (c) the breastfed infant can survive well on breast milk only for the first 6 months of its life, and does not require supplementary water and teas, all of which promote diarrhoea; (d) intensive breast feeding on demand, as increased suckling promotes the production of breast milk and improves the baby's nutrition; and (e) the mother should be assured that, with frequent suckling and correct positioning and attachment of the infant at the breast, she can produce all the breast milk that the

infant requires. In addition, the mothers were given demonstrations on, and assistance with, correct positioning and attachment of the baby to the breast, and hand expression of breast milk.

On days 7 and 21, home visits were made to the mothers in both groups, during which a structured questionnaire on the infant's feeding (24-hour recall) was completed. This included what was being fed to the infant (water, teas, juices, breast milk, formula, other baby foods, semi-solids), how and how frequently the child was being fed, and the use and care of feeding bottles. Morbidity data were also collected. For the intervention group, the data collection on day 7 preceded the counselling session, but both were done during the same home visit.

Five CHWs and two research field assistants had received specific training in breast-feeding and lactation management to assist in the intervention and data collection. The training had been adapted from the WHO/UNICEF 18-hour breast-feeding course manual (17,18), appropriately modified to suit non hospital-based primary care and rural settings. They also had specific training in breast-feeding counselling skills [19], specifically aimed at addressing mothers' perceptions of lactation insufficiency, following the WHO guidelines.

The same field assistants that implemented the intervention counselling had also collected the post-intervention data on feeding practices. This can lead to unreliable data from observer bias or misinformation (especially from the intervention group) or both, and is an important limitation to the design of the study.

Data analysis

The outcome variables in this study were breast-feeding mode (exclusive, predominant, partial) at days 7 and 21, and the re-occurrence of diarrhoea in the infant by day 21. Analysis of results included comparisons between intervention and control groups. Statistical analysis was performed calculating mean, standard deviation, standard error of the mean and chi-square test, using the software SPSS for Windows, version 6.1.00. A 5% level of significance was chosen.

Sample size considerations were based on the assumption that the intervention would increase the prevalence of exclusive breast feeding (24-hour recall) from 5% to 25%. Given a level of significance of 5% and a 90% power of detection, 67 mother-infant pairs were required for each group.

RESULTS

Data were complete for 79 of the 85 motherinfant pairs in the control group and 82 of 84 in the intervention group. Maternal age, parity, educational level, and family characteristics were comparable in both groups (Table I). The characteristics of the infants at presentation were also comparable (Table II). In particular, the proportions of the infants that were being fed breast milk only were similar.

Table III shows the values for the outcome variables for the control and study groups. At day 7, 6% of the control mothers and 49% of the intervention group were feeding their infants breast milk exclusively. The difference in proportions of 43% (95% CL: 25%, 56%) is significant (c^2 =37.72, p<0.00001). At day 21, the corresponding proportions of exclusively breast feeding were 8% (control) and 46% (intervention). Again, the difference in proportions of 38% (95% CL: 25%, 53%) is significant (c^2 =28.32, p<0.00001).

Table I. Distribution of the a sociodemiographic	mothers by characteristic	3
Characteristic	Controls (n=79)	Intervention (n=82)
Age (years), % (N)		
15-19	12.7 (10)	11.0 (9)
20-24	32.9 (26)	30.5 (25)
25-29	16.5 (13)	20.7 (17)
30-34	21.5 (17)	20.7 (17)
35-39	8.9 (7)	8.5 (7)
40-44	7.6 (6)	8.5 (7)
Level of education, % (N)		
None	35.4 (28)	34.2 (28)
Primary	38.0 (30)	41.5 (34)
Secondary	26.6 (21)	24.4 (20)
Religion, % (N)		
Christian	41.8 (33)	53.7 (44)
Islam	58.2 (46)	46.3 (38)
Family characteristics % (N)		
Married	97.5 (77)	91.5 (75)
Polygamous	40.5 (32)	46.3 (38)
First time motherhood	20.3 (16)	18.3 (15)
Number of children, mean (SD)	3.5 (1.9)	3.5 (2.0)
Ethnic group % (N)		
Yoruba	84.8 (67)	86.6 (71)
Igbo	8.9 (7)	11.0 (9)
Hausa	1.3 (1)	2.4 (2)
Others	5.1 (4)	

Also, at day 21, more mothers in the control (14%) than in the intervention group (5%) were using feeding bottles to give supplements to their infants. The commonest supplements given in both groups were *ogi* (a watery corn gruel), herbal teas, and soft drinks. None of the mothers had used commercial breast-milk substitutes. The reasons most frequently given by the mothers in the intervention group for introducing supplements were that the baby was hungry and cried for more food, that breast milk alone did not satisfy the baby, and that it was thirsty, hiccuping, and cried for water.

By day 21, a new episode of diarrhoea had occurred in 22% of the infants in the control group and 12% in the intervention group. This difference is not significant. The 10 children in the intervention group who had a recurrence of diarrhoea included 2 of 38 (5%) who were fed breast milk only and 8 of 44 (18%) who were receiving supplements. In the control group, none of the 6 who were fed breast milk only had a recurrence. For both groups joined, 2 of 44 (5%) who were fed breast milk only and 25 of 117 (21%) who were not had had a re-occurrence of diarrhoea by day 21.

Table II. Distribution of sociodemograp	the infants by hic characteris	selected stics
Characteristic	Controls (n=79)	Intervention (n=82)
Age in months, % (N)		
0-1	13.9 (11)	12.2 (10)
1-2	40.5 (32)	46.3 (38)
2-3	45.6 (36)	41.5 (34)
Mean age (SD) days	55.6 (22.0)	52.9 (21.4)
Males, % (N)	54.4 (43)	57.3 (47)
Mean duration of diarrhoea at presentation, days (SD)	3.8 (1.8)	3.9 (1.8)
Infant feeding:		
Exclusive breast feeding	8.9 (7)	11.0 (9)
Predominant breast feeding	50.6 (40)	50.0 (41)
Partial breast feeding	40.5 (32)	39.0 (32)

Table III. Values and inte	of outcom	e variables fo roups	r the control
Variable	Controls (n=79)		Intervention (n=82)
Exclusive breast	and the second second		
feeding, % (N)			
Day 0	8.9 (7)		11.0 (9)
Day 7	6.3 (5)	virus p< 0.00001	48.8 (40)
Day 21	7.6 (6)	p< 0.00001	46.3 (38)
Use of feeding bottles, % (N)	13.9 (11)		4.9 (4)
Re-occurrence of	21.5 (17)		12.2 (10)

DISCUSSION

We had set out in this study to assess the impact of a focused, individual breast-feeding counselling to mothers of infants with a current episode of diarrhoea on the prevalence of exclusive breast feeding. The results show that this type of breast-feeding promotion intervention has been associated with a marked increase in exclusive breast feeding. In addition, the intervention has been associated with lower diarrhoea prevalence and lower use of infant-feeding bottles. These results are largely in agreement with those from a similar study in a specialist diarrhoea hospital in Bangladesh by Haider and co-workers (20).

Research studies promoting breast feeding have recorded increased prevalence of exclusive breast feeding (21,22). We have earlier reported increased breast-feeding rates associated with two different promotion approaches in these rural communities: prenatal and postnatal breast-feeding counselling and support of rural mothers was associated with a sharp increase in early breast feeding and a four-fold increase in full breast feeding at 4 months (14). Also, the training of extension health workers was associated with increased early breast-feeding initiation and markedly improved breast-feeding recommendations to mothers (17). The present results complement and extend the findings of our previous studies. They suggest that specific, intensive training of health workers in breast-feeding and lactation management, and the use of each contact with the mother of the child as an opportunity to give her breast-feeding counselling and support, together with lactation support from the community, is an effective approach to the promotion of exclusive breast feeding in these rural communities.

Breast feeding of infants is universally practised in our communities. However, exclusive breast feeding is rare: there is widespread perception of lactation insufficiency, and exclusive breast feeding is seen as dangerous (15). Complementary foods are, therefore, introduced typically in the infant's second month of life. The breast-feeding promotion approach of this study seems to have reversed, at least for the short duration of the study, the behavioural effects of local knowledge that strongly deprecates exclusive breast feeding. In particular, the approach included messages supporting breast milk only and increased suckling for the avoidance and resolution of diarrhoea, and for optimum child nutrition, growth and development. One factor that may have contributed to the results of the study is that ISLG was actively promoting breast feeding at the time of this study. Our intervention messages may have acted to reinforce and extend those that were contained in the posters and handbills that were prominently displayed at the health facilities and other places. Furthermore, this time we dealt with anxious mothers of children who were ill, and, therefore, were likely to be immediately receptive to advice. There was also the factor of ready availability of lactation support and problem-solving.

Huttly and co-workers found that non-breastfed Nigerian children aged 3 months and below were 10 times more likely than exclusive breastfed ones to have diarrhoea (23). In this short study, the prevalence of a new episode of diarrhoea was lower in infants fed breast milk only than those who also had supplements. However, no definitive conclusions on this aspect can be derived from the present data and a purposely-designed study is needed to confirm this association.

In our rural communities, where most mothers and their children live, CHWs are the predominant prenatal and postnatal source of contact with the health-care system for mothers and their children. CHWs give antenatal and postnatal care to mothers, deliver them, immunise their babies and take care of them when they are ill. They can, therefore, play a crucial role in breast-feeding counselling, support, and problem-solving, as the results of this study suggest. They should be specifically trained to give breast-feeding counselling and support, and be encouraged to use every contact with the infant and its mother to do this.

As earlier stated, the same research personnel implemented the intervention and collected the postintervention data, and were not blinded to the respondents' experimental grouping (control or intervention). This could have led to unreliable data. Our close supervision of the field assistants was designed to minimise possible errors from their bias. Also, we collected some observational data to validate study participants' responses and control for any possible misreporting of feeding practices. However, a longer period of observation than that obtainable in this study is necessary to reduce such reporting errors to an absolute minimum. Moreover, data from 24-hour recall can lead to feeding group misclassifications. However, such misclassification should be equally distributed in the two experimental groups. In addition, such misclassification usually leads to an underestimation of exclusive breast-feeding rate (24), and it cannot explain the increased rates in the intervention group recorded in this study. Even so, these results should be cautiously interpreted and need to be confirmed from studies in which data have been collected by independent observers that are blinded to respondents' experimental groups.

Breast feeding is cost-effective, and it is important that promotion schemes preserve its cost effectiveness. The scheme indicated here consists of health worker training in counselling and lactation support in the community. The training of CHWs can be achieved quite economically in our rural communities (14). It can, however, be argued that the extra work involved in home visiting and follow-up for lactation support can overburden the health system in these rural communities. We suggest that this need not be the case; with adequate encouragement and incentives, CHWs can accommodate the extra work in their existing schedules. In addition, lactation support groups in the communities, involving civic and opinion leaders and women's groups, can provide complementary support and can be self-sustaining. The scheme can, therefore, remain cost-effective without also overloading the local health system. Besides, cost- savings will accrue to the community from consequential decrease in diarrhoeal morbidity.

REFERENCES

- 1. Feachem RG, Koblinsky M. Interventions for the control of diarrhoeal diseases among young children: promotion of breast-feeding. *Bull WHO* 1984;62: 271-91.
- 2. Dualeh KA, Henry FJ. Breast milks. The life saver: observations from recent studies. *Food Nutr Bull* 1989;11:43-6.
- Victora CG, Smith PG, Vaughan JP, Nobre LC, Lombardi C, Teixeira AM, et al. Evidence for protection by breast-feeding against infant deaths from infectious disease in Brazil. Lancet 1987;2:319-21.
- 4. Victora CG, Smith PG, Vaughan JP, Nobre LC, Lombardi C, Teixeira AM, *et al.* Infant feeding and deaths due to diarrhoea: a case control study. *Am J Epidemiol* 1989;129:1032-41.
- 5. Yoon PW, Black RE, Moulton LH, Becker S. Effect of not breast-feeding on the risk of diarrheal and respiratory mortality in children under 2 years of age in Metro Cebu, The Philippines. *Am J Epidemiol* 1996;143:1142-8.
- 6. De Zoysa I, Rea M, Martines J. Why promote breast-feeding in diarrhoeal disease control programmes? *Health Pol Plan* 1991;6:371-9.
- 7. Lutter C. Recommended length of exclusive breast feeding, age of introduction of complementary foods and the weanling dilemma. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1992.
- 8. Saadeh R, Labbok MH, Cooney HA, Koniz-Booher P, *et al.* Breast-feeding: the technical basis and recommendations for actions. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1993.
- WHO/UNICEF. Protecting, promoting and supporting breast-feeding: the special role of maternity services. Int J Gynaecol Obst 1990;31 (1Suppl):171-3.
- 10. Popkin BM, Adair L, Akin JS, Black R, Briscoe J, Flieger W. Breast-feeding and diarrheal morbidity. *Pediatrics* 1990;86:874-82.
- 11. Ashraf RN, Jalil F, Khan SR, Zaman S, Karlberg J, Lindblad BS, *et al.* Early child health in Lahore, Pakistan. V. Feeding patterns. *Acta Paediatrica* 1993;82(390Suppl):47-61.
- 12. Serenius F, Sweilem AR, Edressee AW, Hofvander Y. Patterns of breast-feeding and weaning in Saudi Arabia. *Acta Paediatrica* 1988;346 (Suppl):121-9.
- 13. Nigeria. Federal Ministry of Health. Nigerian Control of Diarrhoeal Diseases (CDD) Programme, 1991-1995. Lagos: Federal Ministry of Health, 1991.
- 14. Davies-Adetugbo AA. Promotion of breast feeding in the community: Impact of health education programme in rural communities in Nigeria. *J Diarrhoeal Dis Res* 1996;14:5-11.
- 15. Davies-Adetugbo AA. Sociocultural factors and the promotion of exclusive breast-feeding in rural Yoruba communities of Osun State, Nigeria. *Soc Sci Med* 1997;45:113-25.
- 16. Nigeria. Federal Office of Statistics. Nigeria demographic and health survey, 1990. Columbia, MD: Macro International Inc., 1992.
- 17. Davies-Adetugbo AA, Adebawa HA. The Ife South Breast-feeding Project: Training community health extension workers to promote and manage breast-feeding in rural communities. *Bull WHO* 1997;75: 323-32.
- 18. United Nations International Childrens' Emergency Fund. Breast-feeding management and promotion in a baby-friendly hospital: an 18 hour course for maternity staff. New York: UNICEF, 1993.
- 19. World Health Organization. Breast-feeding counselling. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1993.

- 20. Haider R, Islam A, Hamadani J, Amin NJ, Kabir I, Malek MA, *et al.* Breast-feeding counselling in a diarrhoeal disease hospital. *Bull WHO* 1996;74:173-9.
- 21. Valdes V, Perez A, Labbok M, Pugin E, Zambrano I, Catalan S. The impact of a hospital and clinic-based breast feeding promotion programme in a middle class urban environment. *J Top Paediatr* 1993;39: 142-51.
- 22. Burkhalter BR, Marin PS. A demonstration of increased exclusive breast feeding in Chile. Int J Gynaecol Obst 1991;34:353-9.
- 23. Huttly SRA, Blum D, Kirkwood BR, Emeh RW, Feachem RG. The epidemiology of acute diarrhoea in a rural community in Imo State, Nigeria. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* 1987;81:865-70.
- 24. Piwoz EG, Creed de Kanashiro H, Lopez de Romana G, Black RE, Brown KH. Potential for misclassification of infants' usual feeding practices using 24 hour dietary assessment methods. *J Nutr* 1995;125:57-65.

Grandma Ahead of Her Time: Traditional Ways of Diarrhoea Management in Lesotho

Stina Almroth,¹ Makhamokha Mohale,² and Michael C Latham³

1Population Council, South and East Asia Regional Office, Zone 5A, Ground Floor, India Habitat Centre, Lodi Road, New Delhi 110 003, India; 2WHO, Harare, Zimbabwe; 3Division of Nutritional Sciences, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY,

USA

ABSTRACT

The study was aimed at learning about home management of infant and young child diarrhoea in Lesotho. Focus groups and individual interviews were conducted with mothers, grandmothers and nurses during two phases of field work in three geographically different locations. It was found that home management of diarrhoea traditionally had emphasised feeding. While medical advice in the past recommended that, except for breast feeding, food should be withheld during diarrhoea, mothers, grandmothers and even nurses had been reluctant to follow this advice. Mothers and grandmothers saw feeding during diarrhoea as so essential that they would make special efforts to feed a child with diarrhoea. Since most foods contain protein and carbohydrates which stimulate intestinal fluid absorption, feeding during diarrhoea, besides maintaining nutrition, will help maintain hydration. When such beneficial feeding practices are protected and supported there is less need to promote new practices and less risk of producing harmful effects.

Key words: Diarrhoea; Diarrhoea, Infantile; Infant foods; Oral rehydration therapy

INTRODUCTION

Global Policy to Reduce Diarrhoeal Mortality

Global mortality due to diarrhoeal diseases among children aged less than five years is measured in millions (1). Efforts to reduce this level of mortality have focused on the prevention and treatment of dehydration through oral rehydration therapy (ORT) with a solution containing oral rehydration salts (ORS) or home-prepared sugar and salt solutions (SSS). While used successfully in clinical settings, both technologies encountered difficulties at the household level (2). Problems with acceptability, access and preparation spurred an interest in home-based alternatives (3). At the same time there was a growing awareness of the potential of home-based fluids and foods for prevention of dehydration.

In 1987, WHO issued a guide that would assist managers of Control of Diarrhoeal Diseases (CDD) programmes in selecting fluids already available in the home (4). The view at the time was that home fluids should be as "ORS-like" as possible and the guide specified rigorous criteria for testing the composition of candidate fluids. Soon thereafter, however, WHO began shifting emphasis away from fluid composition as the key selection criterion. In 1990, a new list of criteria for selecting home fluids (5) was proposed. On this list "composition" had been shifted from first to last place, while "acceptability" was moved to the top of the list. A revised selection guide reflecting this shift from efficacy to effectiveness was published in 1993 (6). The revised guide considers both fluids and foods, divided into salt and non-

salt containing ones, and recommends the selection of "one or more" of each type. Actual testing of fluid composition is not prescribed.

Correspondence and reprint requests should be addresed to: **Dr. Stina Almroth**

National Policy in Lesotho to Reduce Diarrhoeal Mortality

In Lesotho, government efforts targeted to diarrhoeal disease control began in 1984 when the Combating Childhood Communicable Diseases (CCCD) Project was launched (7). In 1986, the Ministry of Health adopted a five-year plan to control diarrhoeal diseases. The communication strategy for the programme was developed by the Communication and Marketing for Child Survival Project (HEALTHCOM). In 1987, the Ministry of Health formed an Ad Hoc Committee on ORT to review government policy which, until then, had favoured the use of SSS. According to the revised policy, SSS would still be promoted, but ORS was declared to be the "superior and ideal solution" (8). Moreover, to prevent dehydration in the home, mothers and other family members would be "informed and trained to recognise diarrhoea in infants and children as an illness requiring early treatment" (8). The educational message, "dehydration kills," was expected to motivate mothers to follow the action message: "As soon as your child has more than one watery stool or vomits more than once in a day, start giving ORS or sugar-salt-water mixture" (9).

OBJECTIVE

The objective of our research in Lesotho was to obtain information on home management of infant and young child diarrhoea. The research was designed in response to a request from the Ministry of Health for a study that would enable the Ministry to issue specific recommendations regarding home fluids (10).

In line with the policy shift that had taken place prior to the study, our search for suitable home fluids focused on effectiveness rather than on efficacy. We were in other words more concerned about how well a fluid, as actually used, might prevent or treat dehydration than how well it might do this when properly prepared and administered. In community settings, multiple factors will influence actual use. Besides its composition, the effectiveness of a given home fluid in a certain setting depends on the extent to which it is actually given to children during diarrhoea, and this depends on a number of factors. These include availability and cost of ingredients; convenience of preparation; and caregivers' perception of the appropriateness of a fluid for children with diarrhoea. The latter may be influenced by health professionals' recommendations.

METHODS

Qualitative data were obtained through focus groups and individual interviews with mothers, grandmothers and nurses. These interviews were conducted in three geographically different locations during two phases of data collection, in 1991 and in 1992 respectively. During the first phase we carried out 9 focus groups and 19 individual interviews, and during the second round 10 focus groups and 24 individual interviews.

For practical reasons nurses were interviewed individually, usually at their workplaces. Mothers and grandmothers were interviewed mainly through focus groups near their homes. These homogeneous groups of mothers or grandmothers were encouraged by a moderator to share their experiences and perspectives regarding home care of children with diarrhoea. We aimed for a group size of 6-8 people,

but occasionally had slightly larger groups. For both focus groups and individual interviews, a question guide served to remind the moderator / interviewer of topics to be covered. The focus groups with mothers and grandmothers were conducted in Sesotho and tape recorded. Individual interviews with nurses were conducted in English and recorded through written notes.

The typed interview notes and translated tape transcripts were coded according to themes which emerged from these qualitative data. Thereafter the coded statements were sorted into new computer files by theme and respondent category. Theme by theme we then compared the statements made by the mothers, the grandmothers and the nurses. We found that their statements consistently converged into one coherent picture of how the children were fed and cared for during episodes of diarrhoea.

RESULTS

Feeding the Healthy Infant and Young Child

To have a point of reference, we enquired first about foods and fluids given to healthy infants and young children and then about what was given during episodes of diarrhoea. We found breast feeding to be nearly universal and commonly continued into and beyond the second year. While breast feeding continues, supplements of water become part of the diet of most infants during the early months. This may be plain water, or water with sugar or with sugar and salt added. As a result there is little exclusive breast feeding. According to most respondents, complementary feeding should begin around four months of age with gruel or soft porridges and other liquid or semi-solid foods, such as milk, soups, mashed vegetables, and soft-boiled eggs. Traditionally there are two main types of gruel; regular unfermented gruel, called "*lesheleshele*," and fermented gruel, called "*motoho*." For both, the preferred grain is sorghum. "*Papa*", a stiff maize porridge, the staple dish for adults, could be given to young children if softened with milk or vegetable broth.

Feeding the Infant and Young Child during Diarrhoea

Nurses' recommendations

For a child with diarrhoea, many nurses first advised home-prepared sugar and salt solution – SSS –, to be prepared "as soon as the diarrhoea starts." While nurses themselves said they explained that this fluid was to replace fluids and salts lost, a common misunderstanding seemed to be that SSS should be given to stop the diarrhoea.

Continued feeding was another aspect of diarrhoea management that several nurses emphasised, a number of them adding that, in the past, the opposite had been recommended. "*Previously we used to tell them to stop all the feeds,*" one nurse informed us. Mothers and grandmothers had clearly heard nurses stress the importance of SSS, but they did not seem to have noticed any change in nurses' recommendations regarding feeding. One group of mothers, for example, said, "*We are advised at the clinic to stop all foods except breast feeding and use only SSS or ORS until the diarrhoea is better*." Grandmothers were very concerned that nurses "*say the children should just be given SSS when they have diarrhoea and not any food*," and wondered, "*How can a child survive?*" Grandmothers who themselves had always been feeding their children during episodes of diarrhoea explained: "*You see, since we did not go to the clinics, we did not know of these things. We were our own clinics in the villages.*"

Grandmothers' views and practices

Grandmothers scorned the nurses' advice to give SSS which in their opinion "makes the children worse." The grandmothers' strategy was to "ignore the SSS when the child has diarrhoea and give them food and herbs. Then the diarrhoea stops. Our medicines stop diarrhoea. The SSS tastes so bad and children don't like it. I tried to taste it once and it was so bad."

Grandmothers were adamant about keeping both healthy and sick children well-fed: "A child has to be fed all the time, sick or not sick. We want a fit child who is strong even when he is sick." As if they had heard this very statement, a group of mothers said: "Grandmothers say we should feed the child all the time, when he is sick or not, we should feed them the same way."

According to the grandmothers, a child's poor appetite during diarrhoea required the mother to "coax the child into eating," and pay attention to "what feeds make the child worse when he has diarrhoea, so that in the next bout you do not feed it to the child." While grandmothers might, thus, adjust the diet in the individual case, they did not believe there was a need to change the diet just because a child had diarrhoea. They emphasised that they continued giving "all the things that the child has been eating," and that there was "no change at all." How strongly grandmothers felt about feeding during diarrhoea is illustrated by an instance when the interviewer challenged a group of grandmothers by stating, falsely, that other grandmothers had said they would not feed a child with diarrhoea. The challenged group answered incredulously: "No, they should feed the child. Maybe they have adopted these things today. Or they wanted to impress you so that you will think they are doing modern things." Grandmothers' main motivation for feeding children during diarrhoea was to keep the children strong, but they had other reasons too. One grandmother explained that she "gave the child food so that it can stabilise the bowels." Describing the grandmothers' practices, a group of mothers said, "Sometimes they give the child juice from the Sesotho indigenous beans or from maize or potatoes to constipate the child." Among foods that grandmothers gave during diarrhoea, gruel seemed to play an especially prominent role. "Definitely, during the diarrhoea episode we give [gruel]," one group said in response to the interviewer's question of how feeding during diarrhoea compared to the feeding when children were healthy. One reason for giving gruel was that "When you give [gruel] the diarrhoea stops at once." Mothers also knew that: "Grandmothers say that [gruel] will also stop the diarrhoea." Studies showing that faecal losses are smaller with food-based solutions than with the standard glucose-based oral rehydration solution (11), indicate that there may be a scientific basis for the grandmothers' observations.

Mothers' practices

Mothers received advice both from nurses at the clinics and from the grandmothers. These advisors often contradicted each other, and spoke derisively of each other's advice. The mothers' strategy was to make use of both sources of advice, because as one mother explained: "When my child is sick and I am scared, anything that works I use. When I have money I go to the hospital, while at the same time using what my mother gave me." Whose advice she would choose at a given time "just depends on who scolds you more...you use the advice from the one who scolds you more...

Like the grandmothers, mothers explained that they continued feeding children during episodes of diarrhoea and had ignored the nurses' advice to stop feeding. One mother explained to the interviewer "You know, we don't listen to the clinic when they say we should not feed." Mothers also expressed great concern about children's poor appetites during, and after, an episode of diarrhoea. This poor appetite had to be overcome by "coaxing a child into eating," by giving "nice things" or "those things that always bring back the appetite like the juice of an orange," or any fruit juice or fruit drink. One group explained: "When children have diarrhoea they do not eat well. Their appetites are so low you have to coax the child into eating more by also giving them food that brings back the appetite like fruit juices. Even sometimes when the diarrhoea has stopped, this child may not have a good appetite. So you have to continue coaxing him into eating more food."

Nurses' own practices

During the first phase of data collection, a number of nurses indicated that their previous advice to withhold food during episodes of diarrhoea had been followed by mothers. However, we found the mothers' and the grandmothers' assertions, that they had not followed the advice, but made great efforts to feed children during episodes of diarrhoea, more convincing.

When queried about this during the second phase, the nurses' responses were in closer agreement with the mothers' and the grandmothers' descriptions. For example, one nurse recalled when she had worked in the paediatric ward how "*At night mothers used to steal food from the cupboard to give to their children, even milk.*"

We also wondered about what nurses themselves had done when their own children had diarrhoea. A number of nurses then told us that they had continued feeding. "You feed," stated one nurse. "I feed a child, that's all," said another. Several of them described how, as mothers, they would become anxious when their children were ill. "It's the maternal instinct. When your child is ill, you panic. You've got to do something," explained one nurse. Another nurse remembered how, when her children had diarrhoea, "as a mother that's terrible. You keep trying to give food." She and her colleague agreed that a child's appetite could be poor, but emphasised that "you, as a parent, don't stop" feeding. Regarding breast feeding, one of the nurses said, "If they cry you find yourself breast feeding."

Two nurses, upon being asked whether it was not difficult as a nurse to recommend one thing and as a mother to do another, seemed to feel it was not. With a shrug of her shoulder, one of them said, "Sometimes you are forced by the policy. You follow the policy without questioning it."

A few nurses did say that they had tried to withhold food when their children had had diarrhoea. One of them related that, when she tried to do this, her mother had taken over and started feeding the children. This nurse remarked that being a nurse was "*pretend-like*." Her comment, by reminding us of the multiple roles most of us play, helped us reconcile the nurses' seemingly contradictory responses. We realised that, during the first phase, we had approached the nurses as professionals only. During the second phase, we also asked about their views as mothers.

DISCUSSION

Mothers Continue Feeding During Diarrhoea

The most salient feature of home management of diarrhoea as described by the mothers and grandmothers in this study in Lesotho was the continuation of feeding during episodes of diarrhoea. In this regard, the mothers and the grandmothers had actually been ahead of the health professionals who in the past had recommended that feeding be stopped.

Studies in Bangladesh (12), India (13), Kenya (14), Mexico (15), Nigeria (16), Pakistan (17), Peru (16, 18, 19), Saudi Arabia (20), and Swaziland (21) show that, in these countries, too, mothers continue feeding during diarrhoea. Like the mothers and grandmothers in our study, traditional healers in Swaziland (21) stated that feeding was important to maintain the child's strength. The Swazi healers and the Basotho grandmothers shared the view that food, and in particular gruel, was useful for stopping diarrhoea.

Both the mothers and the grandmothers we interviewed expressed great concern about children's poor appetites during diarrhoea, and described how they took great effort to coax a child to eat. Mothers in other countries appear to share this concern about children's poor appetite during diarrhoea. Nigerian mothers said that they were force-feeding more, while Peruvian mothers said that they were breastfeeding more during diarrhoea, due to children's poor appetite (16). Bentley found in India that "some mothers shifted the diet during diarrhoea towards foods that they perceive as 'helpful'" (19), and in Peru that mothers said children could eat "whatever they wanted" during diarrhoea (16).

To understand the dynamics between mothers and grandmothers in relation to child care and feeding practices, it is essential to understand the power relations between them. In the Sesotho culture, grandmothers are thought of as wise and as custodians of culture, particularly as it relates to child care. Their superior status and their experience of bringing up children give them the authority to provide advice and make decisions regarding the care of their grandchildren.

Feeding is Beneficial for Nutrition and Hydration

Gruel is commonly given to Basotho children during diarrhoea. For the main varieties, there is little variation regarding the type of grain preferred, and some variation with respect to the addition of salt and sugar. Yet, we would be reluctant to single out one particular gruel as especially suitable. We no longer believe that the selection of a small number of home fluids is a useful approach, although this was the initial motivation for our study. This conviction grew out of a critical review of the role fluids and foods available in the household have played in home management of diarrhoea (2).

A single formula is practical in clinical settings where procedures are standardised. In community settings, characterised by variation among households and even within the same household over time, a broad a selection of fluids and foods is more appropriate. It may even be harmful to limit the number of fluids or foods recommended, as this would imply that those not recommended are not useful.

Limitation is unnecessary since a wide range of home-based fluids and foods could be used for preventing dehydration. This is because most foods contain carbohydrates and protein, which enhance intestinal fluid absorption and thereby aid in the prevention of dehydration (22). In other words, almost any food with sufficient amounts of water could help prevent dehydration. This means that the mothers' efforts to feed their children during diarrhoea should be seen as beneficial not only for nutrition but also for hydration.

Protection and Support before Promotion

The idea that protection and support of beneficial existing practices should precede the promotion of new ones is a useful concept which deserves to be extended beyond the context of breast feeding programmes (23). Data presented above suggest that mothers in varied geographical settings wisely have insisted on continued feeding. In such cases beneficial practices should be protected and supported rather than new ones promoted. An approach which fails to take into account existing knowledge and practices also runs a greater risk of producing harmful effects. Existing practices which are disregarded may be destroyed (24) and new potentially harmful practices may unintentionally be encouraged.

CONCLUSION

This study provides evidence that beneficial diarrhoea management practices have existed traditionally among women in Lesotho. Mothers' and grandmothers' efforts to continue feeding children during episodes of diarrhoea will help both to maintain nutritional status and to prevent dehydration. Before planning an intervention, existing practices should be assessed, so that whenever possible such helpful practices can be protected and supported. Then there is less need to promote new practices and less risk of causing harm.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We wish to thank Dr Christine Olson and Dr Kathryn March for reviewing earlier drafts of this paper. Partial funding for the study was provided by Maude and Birger Gustavsson's Foundation, Sweden. In Lesotho, we obtained valuable assistance from the Ministry of Health and Social Welfare and from UNICEF. Our very special thanks go to Keiso Matashane who joined us for the second phase of the field research.

REFERENCES

- 1. Bern C, Martines J, de Zoysa I, Glass RI. The magnitude of the global problem of diarrhoeal disease: a ten-year update. *Bull WHO* 1992;70:705-4.
- 2. Almroth S, Latham MC. Rational home management of diarrhoea. *Lancet* 1995;345:709-11.
- 3. Merson MH. World overview. *In:* Proceedings of the Third International Conference on Oral Rehydration Therapy, Washington, D.C.: 1988;23-6.
- World Health Organization. Programme for Control of Diarrhoeal Diseases. A decision process for establishing policy on fluids for home therapy of diarrhoea. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1987. (WHO/CDD/SER/ 87.10).
- 5. World Health Organization. Programme for Control of Diarrhoeal Diseases. Seventh programme report 1988-1989. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1990:121. (WHO/CDD/90.34)
- 6. World Health Organization. Programme for Control of Diarrhoeal Diseases. The Selection of fluids and food for home therapy to prevent dehydration from diarrhoea: Guidelines for Developing a National Policy. Geneva: Programme for Control of Diarrhoeal Diseases. World Health Organization, 1993.
- 7. Yoder PS, Zheng Z. HEALTHCOM in Lesotho, final evaluation report. Maseru: Center for International, Health and Development Communication, University of Pennsylvania.
- 8. Lesotho, Ministry of Health. Policy with respect to oral rehydration policy (ORT). Maseru: Ministry of Health, 1987.
- 9. Lesotho, Ministry of Health. Basic messages for oral rehydration therapy. Maseru: Ministry of Health, 1987.
- 10. Lesotho, Ministry of Health. Suggestions for a research proposal: "Kingdom of Lesotho: study of presently-used and potential home fluids and porridges for the prevention of dehydration in children due to diarrhoea". Maseru: Ministry of Health, 1988.
- 11. Molla AM, Molla A, Nath SK, Khatun M. Food-based oral rehydration salt solution for acute childhood diarrhoea. *Lancet* 1989;19:429-31.
- 12. Hoyle B, Yunus M, Chen LC. Breastfeeding and food intake among children with acute diarrheal disease. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1980;33:2365-71.
- 13. Bentley ME. The household management of childhood diarrhea in rural North India. *Soc Sci Med* 1988;27:75-85.
- 14. Oyoo AO, Burstrom B, B.Forsberg, Makhulo J. Rapid feedback from household surveys in PHC planning: an example from Kenya. *Health Pol Plann* 1991;6:380-3.
- 15. Martinez H, Saucedo G. Mothers' perceptions about childhood diarrhoea in rural Mexico. *J Diarrhoeal Dis Res* 1991;9:235-43.

- 16. Bentley ME, Pelto GH, Straus WL, *et al.* Rapid ethnographic assessment: applications in a diarrhea management program. *Soc Sci Med* 1988;27:107-16.
- 17. Malik IA, Azim S, Good MJ, et al. Feeding practices for young children: usual diet and diet during diarrhoea. J Diarrhoeal Dis Res 1991;9:213-8.
- 18. Huffman SL, Lopez de Romana G, Madrid S, Brown KH, Bentley M, Black RE. Do child feeding practices change due to diarrhoea in the Central Peruvian Highlands? *J Diarrhoeal Dis Res* 1991;9:295-300.
- 19. Bentley ME, Stallings RY, Fukumoto M, Elder JA. Maternal feeding behavior and child acceptance of food during diarrhea, convalescence, and health in the Central Sierra of Peru. *Am J Public Health* 1991;81:43-7.
- 20. Rasheed P. Perception of diarrhoeal diseases among mothers and mothers-to-be implications for health education in Saudi Arabia. *Soc Sci Med* 1993;36:373-7.
- 21. Green EC. Traditional healers, mothers and childhood diarrheal disease in Swaziland: the interface of anthropology and health education. *Soc Sci Med* 1985; 20:277-85.
- 22. Mahalanabis D, Merson M. Development of an improved formulation of oral rehydration salts (ORS) with antidiarrhoeal and nutritional properties: a "super ORS". *In*: Holmgren J, Lindberg A, Mollby R, editors. Development of vaccines and drugs against diarrhea. Lund: Studentlitterature, 1986:240-56.
- 23. Greiner T. Infant and young child nutrition: a historic review from a communication perspective. Introductory remarks. *In*: Koniz-Booher P, editor. Communication strategies to support infant and young child nutrition. Washington, D.C.: Cornell University Program in International Nutrition, 1993:7-15.
- 24. Mull JD. Oral rehydration therapy: an oasis of hope in the developing world. *J Fam Pract* 1984;18:485-7.

Isolation of Escherichia coli to Detect Faecal Contamination of Infants and Their Mothers in West Bengal

S Dutta¹, SK Mondal², MR Saha¹, PG Sengupta², DN Gupta², S Ghosh², and BK Sircar²

Departments of ¹Microbiology and ²Epidemiology, National Institute of Cholera and Enteric Diseases, P-33, C.I.T. Road, Scheme XM, P.O. Box 177, Beliaghata, Calcutta 700 010, India

ABSTRACT

The present study was undertaken to gain insight into the sources of faecal contamination of infants in rural Bengal. It was carried out in three villages near Calcutta, India, from June 1993 to August 1995 among 148 infants and their mothers. *Escherichia coli* was used as an indicator of faecal pollution. A total of 725 samples, including hand rinsings of children and mothers, feeding utensils and leftover food were examined. The total isolation rate of faecal *E. coli* was 30%. The isolation rates from hands of children and mothers were 17% and 40% respectively. The germs from 30% of utensils and 59% of leftover food and drinks were recovered further. The study highlights the precarious hygiene in rural Bengal.

Key words: Escherichia coli; Diarrhoea, Infantile; Hygiene; Prospective studies

INTRODUCTION

Diarrhoeal diseases still hold the second rank in the causes of global mortality and morbidity amongst infants in the developing world. Children aged less that one year are the most vulnerable group. A higher risk of diarrhoea occurs when babies are on complementary feeding (1,2). Complementary feeding includes formula and traditional food given to infants along with breast feeding. Lack of personal hygiene and improper environmental sanitation increase the risk of contamination and cross-contamination. There are previous reports about weaning diarrhoea, bacteriological studies of weaning foods and drinking water (3-6), conducted in various geographical areas. Early introduction of artificial foods occurs in urban areas of Calcutta (7). The present study aims at quantifying sources of faecal contamination of infants in rural Bengal by isolating *Escherichia coli* as an indicator organism.

Correspondence and reprint requests should be addresed to: Dr. S Dutta

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study area and population

This prospective, community-based study was carried out from June 1993 to August 1995 in a rural community, 10 km from the National Institute of Cholera and Enteric Diseases, Calcutta, India. We worked in three villages, with a total population of about 9,800, living in 1,938 families. The study design has been fully described earlier (15). The study families were visited twice a week by an epidemiological team of the Institute. A total of 148 infants, born at term, and their mothers were included. At inclusion the children were aged between 0 and 2 months. Children completing one year of age during the study were dropped and replaced by other infants of 0 to 2 months of age. A questionnaire, including information about infant feeding practices, was administered during each visit to the family.

Sample collection

Seven hundred and twenty-five samples were collected from the study families, irrespective of history of diarrhoea. They included hand rinsing from the study children (HRC) and from their mothers (HRM), swabs from feeding utensils, leftover food, milk and other liquids. Twenty mL of sterile peptone water was used for hand (fingertip) rinsing. Feeding utensils included cups and spoons, bottles and teats. They also were rinsed with peptone water.

Samples were collected at least once from each of the study family. Of the 725 samples collected, 37 samples of fingertip rinses were from exclusively breastfed infants and their mothers.

Bacteriology

All samples were processed within one hour of receipt in the microbiology laboratory of our institute following standard published techniques (8). We used MacConkey agar (Difco), Hektoen enteric agar (Difco) and T.C.B.S. agar (thiosulphate citrate bromothymol blue and sucrose, Difco).

Since *E. coli* was the indicator bacteria (9) for faecal pollution, particular attention was given to the MacConkey agar plate showing lactose-fermenting colonies to select the colonies into various groups according to their shape and colour. Colonies were inoculated into tubes containing freshly prepared tryptone water, single strength MacConkey broth and citrate medium. After incubation at 44 ° C for 24 hours, isolates were identified as *E. coli* by their ability to produce indole from tryptophan and gas from lactose and their inability to use citrate (10).

Statistical analysis was done by the chi-square test.

RESULTS

Among the families studied, more than 50% of the mothers were illiterate; others had followed primary level education. The monthly income was Rs 1,000 (about US\$ 30) or less in 48% of the families. Water sources were from hand pumps for drinking and cooking, and from ponds for bathing and washing utensils and clothes. Infant-rearing practices, more particularly infant-feeding habits, were similar throughout the families. Early complementary feeding of infants was common. In an earlier report on the same community (15), we found that of the 78 infants who were exclusively breastfed from birth on, only 20 (25%) were still fully breastfed at 4 months of age.

Table I shows the percentage distribution of *E. coli* isolated from the various samples, with a total isolation rate of 30%. Faecal contamination of fingertip rinsing from exclusively breastfed and partially breastfed infants and their mothers are compared in Fig. 1. Fig. 2 shows the seasonal pattern of isolation, the highest proportion being during the rainy season (46%).



DISCUSSION

Infective diarrhoea results from faeco-oral transmission. Hence, *E. coli,* as an indicator of faecal contamination, could be used for searching for the sources of potential contamination of infants and their foods by diarrhoeal pathogens.

The number of bacteria was not determined, because in our setting it was not technically feasible. Moreover, delay in transportation of samples in peptone water would have resulted in multiplication of all organisms, leading to false interpretation. It is true, however, that the higher the level of contamination in the samples, the greater the danger of infection from the sources (11). From a practical point of view, we considered the presence of *E. coli* in any sample as indicative of recent faecal pollution, hence a potential source of diarrhoeal pathogens.

Pinfold (12) has discussed the advantages of *E. coli* as an indicator of faeco-oral contamination and disease.

Mothers' hands have a strikingly high rate of faecal contamination (40%), much higher than their children (17%), whether exclusively breastfed or receiving complementary feeding (Fig. 1) both

suffer from similarly defective personal hygiene and lack of environmental sanitation. The difference between mothers and their infants is very significant (chi-square = 23.96; df = 1; p<10-6). Leftover food, and water are even more polluted: 17 of the 29 samples (60%). Yet, because of the small sample size, the 95% confidence limits are broad, from 39% (n=11) to 76% (n=22). Not surprisingly, feeding utensils are also heavily polluted (30%). The *E. coli* isolation rates from cups and spoons (32%), and from bottles and teats (27%) are almost equal. The heavy pollution of leftover food, drinks and utensils might, at least in part, explain that in our study community the risk of diarrhoea is three times higher in partially breastfed babies than in exclusive breastfed ones, as we have shown earlier (15).

A significant increase in contamination was observed during the rainy season (p<0.0001). Rowland *et al.* (16) also found more contamination during the rainy season in Africa.

Our findings highlight once more the importance of prolonged exclusive breast feeding. Giving infants leftover foods should be discouraged and infant feeding with freshly prepared food encouraged. Mathur *et al.* came to the same conclusion (3). Mothers' and infants' hands are an important source of faecal contamination. This again emphasises the importance of personal hygiene, particularly frequent hand washing of mothers and their infants. The same view was reflected in previous studies (13,14). Still, one should not forget that the root causes are crushing poverty and, as one of its many consequences, maternal illiteracy.

In conclusion, our study quantifies the heavy exposure of infants to faecal contamination by their mothers and by other sources in rural Bengal. In this regard, isolating *E. coli* is easier than isolating and identifying diarrhoeal pathogens The latter is time-consuming and all too frequently suffers from the inadequate laboratory facilities in developing countries. Hence, *E. coli* isolation can help develop and monitor intervention programmes and health education activities.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The support of Dr. SK Bhattacharya, Director, National Institute of Cholera and Enteric Diseases, Calcutta, is gratefully acknowledged. We also wish to thank Mr. S Bernard for prompt secretarial assistance.

REFERENCES

- 1. Snyder JD, Merson MH. The magnitude of the global problem of acute diarrhoeal disease: a review of active surveillance data. *Bull WHO* 1982;60:605-13.
- 2. Observational study on infant feeding practices in a rural community of West Bengal: a pilot study. *In:* National Institute of Cholera and Enteric Diseases. Annual report 1994:5.
- 3. Mathur R, Reddy V. Bacterial contamination of infant foods. Indian J Med Res 1983;77:342-6.
- 4. Agarwal DK, Chandra S, Bhatia BD, Sanyal SC, Agarwal KN. Bacteriology of weaning foods in some areas of Varanasi. *Indian Pediatr* 1982;19:131-4.

- 5. Barrell RAE, Rowland MGM. Infant food as a potential source of diarrhoeal illness in rural West Africa. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* 1979;73:85-90.
- 6. Black RE, Brown KH, Becker S, Alim ARM, Merson MH. Contamination of weaning foods and transmission of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* diarrhoea in children in rural Bangladesh. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* 1982;76:259-64.
- Gopurkar PV, Choudhuri SN, Rama Swami MA, Gore MS, Gopalan C. Infant feeding practices with special reference to the use of commercial infant foods. Nutrition Foundation of India, 1984:31-3 (Scientific report 4).
- 8. Manual of laboratory investigation of acute enteric infections. World Health Organization, 1983 (WHO/CDD/83.3 rev.)
- 9. Senior BW. Examination of water, milk, food and air. *In:* Collee JG, Duguid JP, Fraser AG, Marmion BP, editors. Mackie & Mc Cartney's Practical medical microbiology 1989:204-12.
- Public Health Laboratory Service. Methods for the examination of water and associated materials. The bacteriological examination of drinking water supplies. London: Her Majesty, Stationery Office, 1982.
- 11. Pinfold JV, Horan NJ, Mara DD. The faecal coliform fingertip count, a potential method for evaluating the effectiveness of low cost water supply and sanitation initiatives. *J Trop Med Hyg* 1988;91:67-70.
- 12. Pinfold JV. Faecal contamination of water and fingertip rinses as a method for evaluating the effect of low cost water supply and sanitation activities on faeco-oral disease transmission. A case study in rural North East Thailand. *Epidemiol Infect* 1990;105:363-75.
- 13. Shahid NS, Greenough WB, Samadi AR, Huq MI, Rahaman N.Hand washing with soap reduces diarrhoea and spread of bacterial pathogens in a Bangladesh village. *J Diarhoeal Dis Res* 1996;14:85-9.
- 14. Khan MU. Interruption of shigellosis by hand washing. *Trans R Soc Trop Med* 1982;76:164-8.
- 15. Mondal SK, Sengupta PG, Gupta DN, Ghosh S, Sikder SN, Rajendran K, *et al.* Occurrence of diarrhoeal diseases in relation to infant feeding practices in a rural community in West Bengal. *Acta Paediatr* 1996;85:1159-62.
- 16. Rowland MGM, Barrell RAE, Whitehead RG. Bacterial contamination of traditional Gambian weaning foods. *Lancet* 1978;1:36-8.

Snow Mountain-Like Virus Identified in Young Children with Winter Vomiting Disease in South Africa

A Duncan Steele¹, Jim Phillips², Therésa K Smit¹, Ina Peenze¹, and Xi Jiang³

¹MRC/MEDUNSA Diarrhoeal Pathogens Research Unit, Department of Virology, Medical University of Southern Afrtica, PO Box 173, MEDUNSA 0204, South Africa; ²Electron Microscope Unit, National Institute for Virology, Sandringham 2131, South Africa; ³Center for Pediatric Research, Eastern Virginia Medical SchoolL Children'sHospital of the King's Daughters, Norfolk, VA, USA

ABSTRACT

Human caliciviruses have been reported to be associated with both epidemics of acute diarrhoeal illness and with sporadic cases of gastroenteritis in children. In this study, we report the identification of genogroup II small round-structured viruses or human caliciviruses associated with an outbreak of winter vomiting disease in South Africa. The virus was initially identified by electron microscopic examination of the stools and then further characteriszed by recombinant immunoassay with expressed capsid proteins to human caliciviruses from genogroups I and II. Both antigenically by the EIA and by sequence analysis of a region of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase gene, the virus was shown to belong to genogroup II11 of the human *Caliciviridae*.

Key words: Calicivirus; Gastroenteritis; Disease outbreaks

INTRODUCTION

A group of small round viruses, which have been associated with epidemics of gastroenteritis world- wide and which show some surface structure under the electron microscope (EM), have been collectively termed small round-structured viruses (SRSV) (1). The identification and characteriszation of this group of morphologically similar viruses has been hampered by a lack of appropriate biologic tools, such as an *in vitro* cultivation system or an animal model. However, the recent cloning and sequencing of the viral genome of two members of this group, Southampton virus (2) and Norwalk virus (3,4), has enabled their molecular characteriszation. The structural organiszation and polarity of the viral genome has confirmed that these viruses are human members of the *Caliciviridae* (2,4).

Several studies, uszing reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) and sequence analysis of the amplicon, have been reported to investigate the relationships between human viruses within this family (5-8). Comparative analyses of a region of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase gene have been used for predicting overall genetic relatedness between the viruses (9-13). These studies have correlated well with studies which have included sequence analysis of the capsid gene (9-11). Two major genetic groups or "genogroups" of small round-structured viruses have been described using these techniques (7,9-11,13). The representative viruses of these two genogroups are Norwalk virus (genogroup II) and Snow Mountain virus (genogroup III) (13).

Despite the advances made in molecular epidemiological techniques for studying the small roundstructured caliciviruses, the "antigenic relationships between them remain unclear. Immunoassays using recombinant viral capsid have demonstrated that, at least two and probably more, antigenic groups exist (14-17). The two broad "serogroups," which have been defined so far, correspond to the two genogroups described by sequence analysis of regions of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase gene which has, thus, been uszed as a surrogate markert for studying the two genogroups. Immune-electron microscopy (IEM) studies, using convalescent sera from adult volunteers, have indicated that multiple virus "types" exist, although the relationships within the broader serogroups are still to be determined (19,20).

In South Africa, two successive outbreaks of SRSV-associated gastroentertitis in adults have recently been reported (21). SRSVs were initially identified in each outbreak by electron microscopy (EM) and subsequently typed by IEM (as Hawaii virus-like), and by the recombinant ELISA technique (as Norwalk virus-like). Thus, members of both genogroups of human caliciviruses are present in South Africa. Further reports indicate the association of human caliciviruses with paediatric diarrhoea (22,23). In this study, we report the identification of a human calicivirus associated with acute winter vomiting disease in South Africa. The virus was shown to belong to genogroup II (Snow Mountain-like virus) by a recombinant immunoassay and by sequence analysis of a region of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase gene.

Correspondence and reprint requests should be addresed to: Dr. A D Steele

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Derivation of the viral strain

During the winter month of June 1994, a family practice comprising four general practitioners in the town of Middelburg in the Eastern Cape Province of South Africa saw many cases of what the practitioners described by clinical criteria as "winter vomiting disease." The main symptoms included sudden onset of vomiting and abdominal cramps., tThere was no diarrhoea in the majority of cases, although a few patients had upper respiratory tract infections. The patients were mostly young children from the Middelburg area, and it appears that they were not exposed to a common source of infection. Random cases were still being reported six months later.

Several stool specimens from this area showed the presence of SRSVs by electron microscopy (EM). One patient showing typical symptoms during this period, a 22-month old female child, presented with sudden onset vomiting without diarrhoea or respiratory tract symptoms. The child had no siblings and did not attend a day care facility. A stool sample from this child, who resided in Clubville, was collected on 9 June 1994 and sent to the National Institute for Virology, Sandringham for EM. In keeping with the common terminology used for this group of viruses and the procedure suggested by Wanmg (13), the strain has been designated HuCV/Clubville/94/SA.

Electron microscopy

For EM, 1 mL of stool was initially suspended in 9 mL distilled water. The suspension was clarified by centrifugation at 1000 rpm (100 Gg) for 10 minutes. The clarified solution was then subjected to

ultracentrifugation at 37,000 rpm (150, 000 Gg) for two hours. The resulting pellet was resuspended in one drop of supernatant and placed on a carbon- coated, I00 mesh, copper grid. Excess fluid was blotted off, and one drop of 2% phosphotungstic acid (pH 6.9) was added for negative staining. After subjecting the grid to ultraviolet light, it was examined in a Joel 1200 transmission electron microscope.

The stool sample was also subjected to routine virological examination, including culture on Vvervet monkey (*Cercopithecus aethiops*) kidney cells (MA104) at 37 ° C and inoculation into 24/48 hour suckling mice. A portion of the stool was stored for 3 months at -70 ° C and then retrieved for molecular and immunologic studies.

Reagents used for the immunoassays

Recombinant Norwalk virus (rNV) capsids expressed in a baculovirus system were available and diluted to a concentration of 1 μ g/mL (7). The rNV was used for inoculating guinea pigs and rabbits, as described previously, to produce hyperimmune antisera for use in a Norwalk virus antigen detection ELISA (7,16).

A recombinant protein capsid (rMX), also expressed in a baculovirus system, was derived from a Snow Mountain-like virus recovered from the stool of a Mexican child (18). This recombinant has been used for generating hyper-immune sera to the MXx agent for use in an antigen detection ELISA, similar to that for Norwalk virus (18).

Antigen detection immunoassays

An ELISA for the detection of Norwalk virus antigen in stool specimens was performed as described elsewhere in detail (16). The conjugate used was horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-human immunoglobulin (DAKO Ltd, High Wycombe, United Kingdom), which was added at a 1:5000 dilution and the substrate was 3,3',5,5'- tetramethylbenzidine (TMB, Sigma Chemical Company, Poole, United Kingdom). The optical density values were determined at 405 nm on a spectrophotometer, (Titertek Multiscan, Flow Laboratories McLean VA).

An ELISA used for the detection of Snow Mountain-like virus (MX agent) has been described in detail (18). Procedures for this ELISA were followed using the same conjugate and substrate described above.

Reverse-transcriptase PCR

The cetytrimethyiammonium bromide (CTAB) method described elsewhere was used for extracting viral RNA for RT-PCR (5). In brief, 10% stool suspensions were extracted with an equal volume of 1, 1,2trichloro-1,2,2-trifluorethane and concentrated with 8% polyethylene glycol 6000 and 0.4M NaCl. The pellets were resuspended, digested with proteinase K, and the viral RNA was extracted with phenolchloroform in the presence of CTAB. The viral RNA was precipitated with ethanol and resuspended in deionised water.

Two pairs of primers described previously were used for the RT-PCR reaction (8). However, it was found that the optimal combination pair was by using one primer from each accepted pair. RT-PCR was, therefore, performed using the primer pair 36 and 51. The RT-PCR method has been described previously (5,8). In brief, the purified viral RNA was reverse transcribed for onel hour at 42 ° C with avian myeloblastosis virus reverse transcriptasebed in the presence of RNasin and the sense primer. PCR was performed by adding a master mixture containing the anti-sense primer and *Taq* polymerase to the RT mixture. Amplification was performed over 39 cycles at 94 ° C for one minute, 50 ° C for 1.5 minutes and 72 ° C for one minute. The PCR products were analysed by agarose gel electrophoresis.

PCR product sequencing

Following amplification, the PCR products were purified and sequenced in both directions using the primers 36 and 51 with the PCR Product Sequenase system (United States Biochemicals, Cleveland). The system was used as specified by the manufacturer with slight modifications. The sequencing reactions were run through 6% urea sequencing gels at 80 W.

RESULTS

Electron microscopy

Examination of the stool specimen by EM showed clumps of viral particles. The sizes of the clumps varied and contained between 12 and over 200 particles. Measurement of the virus particle from micrographs showed the mean diameter to be 33 mnm. The surface of the virus was structured, and the edges of the particles had a ragged outline (Fig. 1). On the basis of size and morphology, the virus was identified as a Fig. 1: Electron micrograph of the 33 nm small small round-structured virus.



round- structured viruses observed in the diarrhoeal stool of a young child with winter vomiting disease in South Africa

No virus was isolated from tissue culture on MA 104 cells or by inoculation into suckling mice.

Detection of human calicivirus antigen in stool

In the ELISA for detecting Norwalk virus antigen, the stool was negative. However, the stool was positive for Snow Mountain-like virus antigen using a newly described ELISA (18). The optimal densities values were >2.000, and the negative and positive control stools fell within normal boundaries. Antigenically, therefore, Cv/94/SA would be grouped in the Snow Mountain serogroup.

Amplification by RT-PCR

Three primer pairs were used in an attempt for amplifying a region of the RNA polymerase gene. The initial prime pair (36/35) was selected because of its high base pair match with other caliciviruses (13), However, no bands depicting the amplified product were observed. The second pair (3/51) is internal to 36/35., although It was also unsuccessful for the amplification of the RNA polymerase gene from Cv/94/SA. However, using a primer from each pair (i.e. primers 36/51), we amplified a product of approximately 360 base pairs, which is the expected size.

Sequence analysis of the PCR product

DNA sequences of the PCR products of the RNA polymerase gene were obtained in both orientations using the same primers which had been used for amplification. Repeated sequencing of the DNA showed excellent reproducibility. The nucleotide sequence of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase gene strain Cv/94/SA was compared with the corresponding region (from base pair 4505 to 4958) of Norwalk virus

and Snow Mountain virus. The nucleotide similarity in this region of the polymerase gene of Cv/94/SA is 59.6% to Norwalk virus and 78.7% to Snow Mountain virus.

The predicted amino acid sequence of this region is shown in Figure 3 and compared it with the prototype viruses for genogroup I and II. Although there were 76 base pair substitutions compared to Snow Mountain virus within this region, only 10 changes to the predicted amino acid occurred (Fig. 4). The amino acid homology of Cv/94/SA to Norwalk virus and Snow Mountain virus was 59.3% and 91.5% respectively, indicating the grouping of Cv/94/SA within the Snow Mountain virus genogroup.

	1451aa
NV8fIIA/68/US	IEL-YAE-AK-KN-FTAN-QIMTESFSS-LT-S-E
Cv/94/SA	xxDGPIIFEHSRYRYHYDADYSRWDSTQQRAVLAAALEIMVRFSAEPQL
SMA/76/US	NEFSFSKPH
NV8fIIa/68/US Cv/94/SA SMA/76/US	-EVQEMYV-RVKFVVVNIIAQIVAEDLLAPSVVDVGDFKITINEGLPSGVPCTSQWNSLAHWLLTLCAL
NV8fIIa/68/US	ASVV-SM-YF
CV/94/SA	SEVTGLGPDIIQANSMYSFYG
SMA/76/US	N-ALF

Fig. 2: Alignment of the predicted amino acid sequence of the region of the RNA polymerase gene. The sequences shown are aligned from amino acid 1454 to 1571 of the predicted ORF1 of the Norwalk virus and Snow Mountain virus genomes. The highly conserved RNA polymerase GLPSG motif is shown in bold print.

DISCUSSION

In this study we report on the identification of a small round-structured virus, characteriszed as a Snow Mountain agent-like virus, recovered from the stool of children with classic winter vomiting disease in South Africa. The human caliciviruses have been reported to be associated with epidemic gastroenteritis (21) and with paediatric gastroenteritis (22,23) in South Africa. Nevertheless, this report is interesting in that (i) the virus is associated with winter vomiting disease and not with the diarrhoeal episodes used to identify the cases of paediatric gastroenteritis in the previous studies (22,23), and (ii) the standard primer pairs did not amplify Cv/94/SA, whereas they were used successfully in other studies (5,8).

The outbreak of "winter vomiting disease" that which occurred in Middelburg coincided with the coldest winter in 30 years, which may have some significance in the epidemiology of this outbreak. Furthermore, the majority of cases were associated clinically, not with diarrhoea, but with the sudden onset of vomiting and, in some cases, upper respiratory tract infections. This observation highlights the need to include not only diarrhoeal stools when screening for the involvement of human caliciviruses in clinical disease. The availability of the recombinant EIAs for this screening will greatly aid in the further elucidation of the role of these viruses in clinical disease.

Sequence analysis of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase gene has been found to be a powerful technique for the early characteriszation of human strains within the *Caliciviridae* and has been used fairly extensively for studying strains from the United Kingdom (7,9,24), the United States (10,11,13), and Japan (13). Limited comparisons have been made with the human caliciviruses identified in South Africa (22). In this study we have obtained the sequence of a region of the RNA polymerase gene of a South African human calicivirus, Clubville/94/SA, and compared it with the prototype viral strains of the two human genogroup within this family.

The deduced amino acid sequence of the RNA polymerase gene of Clubville/94/SA is over 90% homologous to Snow Mountain virus compared to barely 60% to Norwalk virus, and indicates that Clubville/94/SA belongs to genogroup II. Further, these results were supported by the immunoassay studies using recombinant capsid antigen expressed in a baculovirus system (17). Clubville/94/SA reacted to high titre with the hyper-immune sera generated by the genogroup 11 vital antigen (Snow Mountain-like virus), but failed to react with that raised against the expressed Norwalk virus antigen. The highly conserved RNA polymerase GLPSG motif was confirmed to be in the correct position with respect to the gene and was conserved in Clubville/94/SA. Unfortunately the anti-sense primer runs into the second conserved motif YGDD which is present in all RNA polymerase genes. Nevertheless, the first two amino acids of this motif were present as shown in Figurme 4, and it may be reasonable to assume that the 6 base pairs on the 3 end of the primer must be conserved for the amplification reaction to have been successful. When we compared the deduced amino acid sequence of the polymerase gene of Clubville/94/SA with other human strains belonging to genogroup II11, it was interesting to note that a higher degree of homology was found with OTH-25/89/Japan recovered from a 2-year old child in Japan (13), 4S/90/UK recovered from a 10-month old in the UK (7), and to other South African strains (22). The deduced amino acid sequence of these two strains was reported to be 100% homologous (7); strains Clubville/94/SA differed by 1 amino acid from these two strains, compared to the 10 amino acid substitutions noted with Snow Mountain virus.

It is noteworthy that, based on the sequence of the RNA polymerase gene of these strains, all three have been categoriszed as belonging to genogroup II11 with Snow Mountain virus. Antigenic studies, using the recombinant Norwalk and Snow Mountain virus-like protein (3,17), have shown that these viruses, derived from different countries, are antigenically related to each other and to Snow Mountain virus (13). The data presented here supports the use of sequence analysis of the RNA polymerase gene to type members of the human caliciviruses. The single exception to this is Southampton virus, which was antigenically typed as similar to Snow Mountain virus, but has an RNA polymerase gene similar to Norwalk virus (2,13).

Wang and colleagues have proposed an interim scheme for the nomenclature of the human caliciviruses found in stools and associated with gastroenteritis (13). We have adopted this approach in this study, and support the concept proposed to avoid unnecessary confusion as this field is explored further.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported in part by research grants from the South African Medical Research Council and the Poliomyelitis Research Foundation, Sandringham.

REFERENCES

- 1. Cubitt WD. Diagnosis, occurrence and clinical significance of the human "candidate" caliciviruses. *Prog Med Virol* 1989;36:103-19.
- 2. Lambden PR, Caul EO, Ashley CR, Clarke IN. Sequence and genome organization of a human small round structured (Norwalk-like) virus. *Science* 1993;259:516-9.
- 3. Jiang X, Graham DY, Wang K, Estes MK. Norwalk virus genome cloning and characterization. *Science* 1990;250:1580-3.
- 4. Jiang X, Wang M, Wang K, Estes MK. Sequence and genomic organization of Norwalk virus. *Virology* 1993;195:51-61.
- 5. Jiang X, Wang J, Graham DY, Estes MK. Detection of Norwalk virus in stool by polymerase chain reaction. *J Clin Microbiol* 1992;30:2529-34.
- 6. Green J, Norcott JP, Lewis D, Arnold C, Brown DWG. Norwalk-like viruses: demonstration of genomic diversity by polymerase chain reaction. *J Clin Microbiol* 1993;31:3007-12.
- 7. Cubitt WD, Jiang X, Wang J, Estes MK. Sequence similarity of human caliciviruses and small round structured viruses. *J Med Virol* 1994;43:252-8.
- Moe CL, Gentsch J, Ando T, Grohmann G, Monroe SS, Jiang X, Wang J, Estes MK, Selo Y, Humphrey C, Stine S, Glass RI. Application of PCR to detect Norwalk virus in faecal specimens from outbreaks of gastroenteritis. *J Clin Micrbiol* 1994;32:642-8.
- Green SM, Dingle KE, Lambden PR, Caul ED, Ashley CR, Clarke IN. Human enteric Caliciviridae: a new prevalent small round structured virus group defined by RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and capsid diversity. J Gen Virol 1994;75:1883-8.
- 10. Lew JF, Kapikian AZ, Valdesuso J, Green KY. Molecular characterization of Hawaii virus and other Norwalk-like viruses: evidence for genetic polymorphism among human caliciviruses. *J Infect Dis* 1994;170:535-42.
- 11. Lew JF, Petric M, Kapikian AZ, Jiang X, Estes MK, Green KY. Identification of minireovirus as a Norwalk-like virus in paediatric patients with gastroenteritis. *J Virol* 1994;68:3391-6.
- 12. Lew JF, Kapikian AZ, Jiang X, Estes MK, Green KY. Molecular characterization and expression of the capsid protein of a Norwalk-like virus recovered from a Desert Shield troop with gastroenteritis. *Virology* 1994;200:319-25.
- Wang J, Jiang X, Madore HP, Gray J, Desselberger U, Ando T, Seto Y, Oishi 1, Lew JF, Green KY, Estes MK. Sequenmce diversity of small, round- structured viruses in the Norwalk virus group. J Virol 1994;68:5982-90.
- 14. Gay J, Jiang X, Morgan-Capner P, Desselberger U, Estes MK. Prevalence of antibodies to Norwalk virus in England: detection by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay using baculovirus-expressed Norwalk virus capsid antigen. *J Clin Microbiol* 1993; 31:1022-5.
- 15. Parker S, Cubitt WD, Jiang X, Estes MK. Efficacy of a recombinant Norwalk virus protein enzyme immunoassay for the diagnosis of infections with Norwalk virus and other human "candidate" caliciviruses. *J Med Virol* 1993;41:179-84.
- 16. Graham DY, Jiang X, Tanaka T, Opekun AR, Madore HP, Estes MK. Norwalk virus infections in volunteers: new insights based on improved assays. *J Infect Dis* 1994;170:34-43.
- 17. Jiang X, Matson DO, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Hu J, Treanor J, Pickering LK. Expression, selfassembly and antigenicity of a Snow Mountain agent-like calicivirus capsid protein. J Clin *Microbiol* 1995;33:1452-5.
- 18. Jiang X, Wang M, Graham DY, Estes MK. Expression, self-assembly and antigenicity of the Norwalk virus capsid protein. *J Virol* 1992;66:6527-32.
- 19. Lewis DC. Norwalk agent and other small round structured viruses in the U.K. *J Infect* 1991;23:220-2.
- Okada S, Stine S, Ando T, Hayashi Y, Murao M, Yabuchi K, Miki T, Ohashi M. Antigeic characterization of small round structured viruses by immune electron microscopy, *J Clin Microbiol* 1990;28:1244-8.
- Taylor MB, Schildhauer CI, Parker S, Grabow WOK, Jiang X, Estes MK, Cubitt WD. Two successive outbreaks of SRSV associated gastroenteritis in South Africa. *J Med Virol* 1993;41:18-23.

- Wolfaardt M, Taylor MB, Grabow WOK, Cubitt WD, Jiang X. Molecular characterization of small round structured viruses associated vith gastroenteritis in South Africa. *J Med Virol* 1995;47:386-91.
- 23. Wolfaardt M, Taylor MB, Booysen HF, Engelbrecht L, Grabow WOK, Jiang X. Incidence of human calicivirus and rotavirus infection in patients with gastroenteritis in South Africa. *J Med Virol 1996*;51.
- 24. Norcott JP, Green J, Lewis D, Estes MK, Barlow KL, Brown DWG. Genomic diversity of small round structured viruses in the United Kingdom. *J Med Virol* 1994;44:280-6.

From the Internet ...

The first topic reprinted here is from the World Health Organization (<u>http://www.who.org</u>). It is the report of the WHO vaccine research development steering committee on diarrhoeal diseases. The committee was chaired by Professor Philippe Sansonetti, Pasteur Institute, Paris. It is a crisp, focused document that should be of value to all interested in the use of vaccines to prevent infectious diarrhoeas. Clearly, the task ahead is still formidable but much is being done and progress is being made. In this vast field, priorities must be set and that is what the report does with great clarity.

The second topic is from the July-September 1997 (Volume 3, Number 3) issue of **Emerging Infectious Diseases.** One of the excellent publications of the USA Centres for Disease Control and Prevention in Atlanta, it is in the public domain: its contents may be reprinted without special permission. The JDDR wishes,

however, to explicitly acknowledge the source and the authors of the paper "<u>Multidrug-Resistant</u> <u>Enteroaggregative Escherichia coli Associated with Persistent Diarrhea in Kenyan Children</u>" by W.K. Sang, J.O. Oundo, J.K. Mwituria, P.G. Waiyaki, Kenya Medical Research Institute, Nairobi Kenya; M. Yoh, T. Iida, and T. Honda, Osaka University, Osaka, Japan.

Emerging Infectious Diseases was accessed through a circuitous route, starting with an interesting site: <u>http://www.medscape.com/</u>. <u>Medscape com</u> is free, and packed with interesting material. It also has many hyperlinks to, amongst many others, Medline and a number of medical journals, including **Emerging and Infectious Diseases**. For those with an easy access to the World Wide Web it is worth exploring.

R. Eeckels

BIBLIOGRAPHY ON DIARRHOEAL DISEASES

220. Abrahamsen MS, Lancto CA, Walcheck B, Layton W, Jutila MA. Localization of a/ß and t/d T lymphocytes in *Cryptosporidium parvum*-infected tissues in naive and immune calves [note]. Infect Immun 1997 Jun;65(6):2428-33. 37 ref, Eng. Department of Veterinary PathoBiology, University of Minnesota, 1988 Fitch Ave., St. Paul, MN 55108, USA

221. Adah MI, Rohwedder A, Olaleye OD, Durojaiye OA, Werchau H. Serotype of Nigerian rotavirus strains. Trop Med Int Health 1997 Apr;2(4):363-70. 37 ref, Eng. Institute of Medical Microbiology and Virology, Ruhr-Universität, Universitätsstr, 150, 44801 Bochum, Germany

222. Albert MJ, Islam D, Nahar S, Qadri F, Falklind S, Weintraub A. Rapid detection of *Vibrio cholerae* O139 Bengal from stool specimens by PCR [note]. J Clin Microbiol 1997 Jun;35(6):1633-5. 17 ref, Eng. International Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease Research, Bangladesh, GPO Box 128, Dhaka 1000, Bangladesh

223. Ananthasubramanian M, Ananthan S, Vennila R, Bhanu S. Cryptosporidium in AIDS patients in South India: a laboratory investigation. J Commun Dis 1997 Mar;29(1):29-33. 11 ref, Eng. Department of Microbiology, Dr. ALMPG IBMS University of Madras, Taramani, Chennai 600113, India

224. Bahrani FK, Sansonetti PJ, Parsot C. Secretion of Ipa proteins by *Shigella flexneri*: inducer molecules and kinetics of activation. Infect Immun 1997 Oct;65(10):4005-10. 30 ref, Eng. Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD 21201, USA

225. Barrett SP, Lau YK. Incompleteness of statutory notification of bacterial gastrointestinal infection. Public Health 1997 May;111(3):183-5. 11 ref, Eng. Department of Medical Microbiology, St Mary's Hospital, Praed Street, London W2 1NY, UK

226. Barzu S, Benjelloun-Touimi Z, Phalipon A, Sansonetti P, Parsot C. Functional analysis of the *Shigella flexneri* IpaC invasin by insertional mutagenesis. Infect Immun 1997 May;65(5):1599-1605. 33 ref, Eng. Unite de Pathogenic Microbienne Moleculaire, Unite U389 de l'Institut National de la Sante et de la Recherche Medicale, Institut Pasteur, 28 rue du Dr. Roux, 75015 Paris, France

227. Bergquist C, Johansson E-L, Lagergård T, Holmgren J, Rudin A. Intranasal vaccination of humans with recombinant cholera toxin B subunit induces systemic and local antibody responses in the upper respiratory tract and the vagina. Infect Immun 1997 Jul;65(7):2676-84. 44 ref, Eng. Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology, Göteborg University, Guldhedsgatan 10A, S-413 46 Göteborg, Sweden

228. Bhutta ZA, Nizami SQ, Isani Z. Lactose intolerance in persistent diarrhoea during childhood: the role of a traditonal rice-lentil (khitchri) and yogurt diet in nutritoinal management. J Pak Med Assoc 1997 Jan;47(1):20-4. 36 ref, Eng. Department of Paediatrics, The Aga Khan University, Stadium Road, Karachi 74800, Pakistan

"Lactose intolerance is frequently encountered in children with persistent diarrhoea (PD). Selection of an appropriate milk-based formulation is a major management problem in the developing world. In a consecutive series of studies, we evaluated the role of feeding a traditional rice-lentil (khitchri) diet alone (KY) or in combination with either soy formula (KY-soy) a dilute buffalo milk (KY-B), in children (age 6 months-3 years) with PD. Serial observations of stool output, caloric intake and weight gain of these children over a 14-

day period indicated satisfactory tolerance of the KY diet with adequate weight gain. The weight gain and stool output was however higher in lactose intolerant children, with the worst results seen with K-Y and buffalo milk combination. While lactose intolerant children with PD do have higher rates of therapeutic failure, our data indicate that a traditional diet and yogurt combination can be used satisfactory for nutritional rehabilitation in over 80% of such children."

229. Blanco JE, Blanco M, Blanco J, Mora A, Balaguer L, Cuervo L, Balsalobre C, Muñoa F. Prevalence and characteristics of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* with the eae gene in diarrhoeic rabbits. Microbiol Immunol1997;41(2):77-82. 22 ref, Eng. Departmento de Microbiologia y Parasitologia, Facultad de Veterinaria, Universidad de Santiago de Compostela, 27002 Lugo, Spain

230. Boey CCM, Ramanujam TM, Looi LM. *Clostridium difficile*-related necrotizing pseudomembranous enteritis in association with Henoch-Schonlein purpura. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1997 Apr;24(4):426-9. 9 ref, Eng. Department of Paediatrics, University Hospital, Jalan Lembah Pantai, 50603 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

231. Borrell N, Acinas SG, Figueras M-J, Martinez-Murcia AJ. Identification of Aeromonas clinical isolates by restriction fragment length polymorphism of PCR-amplified 16S rRNA genes. J Clin Microbiol 1997 Jul;35(7):1671-4. 32 ref, Eng. Departamento de Genetica y Microbiologia, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Alicante, Campus de San Juan, Apartado 374, E-03080, Alicante, Spain

232. Butterton JR, Ryan ET, Acheson DWK, Calderwood SB. Coexpression of the B subunit of Shiga toxin 1 and EaeA from enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* in *Vibrio cholerae* vaccine strains. Infect Immun 1997 Jun;65(6):2127-35. 31 ref, Eng. Infectious Disease Unit, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA 02114, USA

233. Caldini G, Neri A, Crfsti S, Boddi V, Rossolini GM, Lanciotti E. High prevalence of *Vibrio cholerae* non-O1 carrying heat-stable-enterotoxin-encoding genes among *Vibrio* isolates from a temperate-climate river basin of central Italy. Appl Environ Microbiol 1997 Jul;63(7):2934-9. 43 ref, Eng. Agenzia Regionale per la Protezione Ambientale della Toscana, U.O. Biologia Ambientale, via Ponte alle Mosse 211, 50144 Florence, Italy

234. Carbonare SB, Silva MLM, Palmeira P, Carneiro-Sampaio MMS. Human colostrum IgA antibodies reacting to enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* antigens and their persistence in the faeces of a breastfed infant. J Diarrhoeal Dis Res 1997 Jun;15(2):53-8. 25 ref, Eng. Instituto Butantan, Instituto de Ciencias Biomedicas, Universidade de Sao Paulo, Sao Paulo, Brazil

"IgA antibodies reacting to enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* (EPEC) antigens in human colostrum and their role in the inhibition of EPEC adherence to HEp-2 cells were studied. Colostrum IgA was isolated with a Sepharose anti-IgA column. IgA-depleted colostrum lost its inhibitory effect on EPEC adhesion, while the IgA-enriched eluate was a potent adherence inhibitor. The same eluate showed a significant loss of inhibitory activity after absorption with an EPEC strain showing localised adherence (LA+), but no alteration after absorption with an LA-strain. No bands were observed in Western blot analysis with LA+absorbed eluate and with a crude extract of the EPEC strain, but the eluate absorbed with LA-showed a strong recognition of a 94-kDa band, a molecular weight equivalent to that of intimin. Colostrum antibodies reacting to non-protein antigens were not detected by Western blot analysis. The persistence of anti-EPEC IgA in the gastrointestinal tract was shown by the strong reactivity to the 94-kDa band in Western blot analysis of one mother's colostrum and her infant's faeces. These data confirm the role of colostrum antibodies in protecting the neonate against infections due to EPEC."

235. Chacin-Bonilla L, Bonila MC, Soto-Torres L, Rios-Candida Y, Sardina M, Enmanuels C, Parra AM, Sanchez-Chavez Y. *Cryptosporidium parvum* in children with diarrhea in Zulia State, Venezuela. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1997 Apr;56(4):365-9. 31 ref, Eng. Instituto de Investigaciones Clinicas, Universidad del Zulia, Maracaibo, Venezuela

236. Chakrabarti AK, Ghosh AN, Sarkar BL. Isolation of 0139 phages to develop a phage typing scheme. Indian J Med Res 1997 Jun;105:254-7. 10 ref, Eng. Vibrio Phage Reference Laboratory, National Institute of Cholera & Enteric Diseases, P-33, CIT Road, Scheme XM, Beliaghata, PO Box 177, Calcutta 700010, India

"Five *V. cholerne* 0139 phages isolated from different parts of India have been used for phage typing study. A strain isolated from Nagpur city (NPR-4) was used as the host for phage propagation. All but one of the 260 strains of *V. cholerae* 0139 were found to be typeable and could be clustered into 8 distinct phage types as revealed by lytic patterns. Phage type 1 was the predominant type (61.15%) followed by type 2 (18.46%). The strains isolated from Madras exhibited 7 out of 8 phage types. These newly isolated phages could be adopted for phage typing of *V. cholerae* 0139 strains as an epidemiological tool."

237. Chaturvedi S, Chaturvedi S. Oral vaccines for cholera control [review article]. Natl Med J India 1997 Jan/Feb;10(1):17-8. 24 ref, Eng. University College of Medical Sciences, New Delhi 110095, India

238. Chen SC, Fynan EF, Robinson HL, Lu S, Greenberg HB, Santoro JC, Herrmann JE.
Protective immunity induced by rotavirus DNA vaccines. Vaccine 1997 Jun;15(8):899-902.
12 ref, Eng. Division of Infectious Diseases and Immunology, University of Massachusetts
Medical School, Worcester, MA 01655, USA

239. Choudhry AJ, Mubasher M. Factors influencing the prescribing patterns in acute watery diarrhoea. J Pak Med Assoc 1997 Jan;47(1):32-5. 9 ref, Eng. Department of Community Medicine, Allama Iqbal Medical College, Lahore, Pakistan

240. Curtis V, Kanki B, Cousens S, Sanou A, Diallo I, Mertens T. Dirt and diarrhoea: formative research in hygiene promotion programmes. Health Pol Plann 1997 Jun;12(2):122-31. 18 ref, Eng. Maternal and Child Epidemiology Unit, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, UK

241. Douce G, Fontana M, Pizza M, Rappuoli R, Dougan G. Intranasal immunogenicity and adjuvanticity of site-directed mutant derivatives of cholera toxin. Infect Immun 1997 Jul;65(7):2821-8. 39 ref, Eng. Department of Biochemistry, Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine, Exhibition Road, London SW7 2AY, UK

242. Faruque SM, Ahmed KM, Alim ARMA, Qadri F, Siddique AK, Albert MJ. Emergence of a new clone of toxigenic *Vibrio cholerae* O1 biotype El Tor displacing *V. cholerae* O139 Bengal in Bangladesh. J Clin Microbiol 1997 Mar;35(3):624-30. 37 ref, Eng. International Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease Research, Bangladesh, GPO Box 128, Dhaka 1000, Bangladesh

"The emergence of *Vibrio cholerae* 0139 Bengal in 1992, its rapid spread in an epidemic form, in which it replaced existing strains of *V. cholerae* 01 during 1992 and 1993, and the subsequent reemergence of *V. cholerae* 01 of the EI Tor biotype in Bangladesh since 1994 have raised questions regarding the origin of the reemerged EI Tor vibrios. We studied 50 EI Tor vibrio strains isolated in Bangladesh and four other countries in Asia and Africa before the emergence of *V. cholerae* 0139 and 32 strains isolated in Bangladesh during and after the epidemic caused by *V. cholerae* 0139 to determine

whether the reemerged EI Tor vibrios were genetically different from the EI Tor vibrios which existed before the emergence of V. cholerae 0139. Analysis of restriction fragment length polymorphisms in genes for conserved rRNA, cholera toxin (ctxA), and zonula occludens toxin (zot) or in DNA sequences flanking these genes showed that the El Tor strains isolated before the emergence of V. cholerae 0139 belonged to four different ribotypes and four different ctx genotypes. Of 32 EI Tor strains isolated after the emergence of 0139 vibrios, 30 strains (93.7%) including all the clinical isolates belonged to a single new ribotype and a distinctly different *ctx* genotype. These results provide evidence that the reemerged EI Tor strains represent a new clone of EI Tor vibrios distinctly different from the earlier clones of El Tor vibrios which were replaced by the 0139 vibrios. Further analysis showed that all the strains carried the structural and regulatory genes for toxin-coregulated pilus (tcpA, tcpl, and toxR). All strains of the new clone produced cholera toxin (CT) in vitro, as assayed by the G_{M1}-dependent enzymelinked immunosorbent assay, and the level of CT production was comparable to that of previous epidemic isolates or El Tor vibrios. Further studies are required to assess the epidemic potential of the newly emerged clone of V. cholerae 01 and to understand the mechanism of emergence of new clones of toxigenic V. cholerae."

243. Fasano A, Uzzau S, Fiore C, Margaretten K. The enterotoxic effect of zonula occludens toxin on rabbit small intestine involves the paracellular pathway. Gastroenterology 1997 Mar;112(3):839-46. 32 ref, Eng. Gastrointestinal Pathophysiology Unit, Center for Vaccine Development, University of Maryland School of Medicine, 685 West Baltimore Street, HDF Building, Room 465, Baltimore, MD 21201, USA

244. Fekety R. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of *Clostridium difficile*associated diarrhea and colitis. Am J Gastroenterol 1997;92(5):739-50. 63 ref, Eng. Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Internal Medicine, 3116 Taubman Health Center, University of Michigan Hospitals and Medical School, Ann Arbor, MI 48109-0378, USA

245. Fernandez-Prada CM, Hoover DL, Tall BD, Venkatesan MM. Human monocyte-derived macrophages infected with virulent *Shigella flexneri* in vitro undergo a rapid cytolytic event similar to oncosis but not apoptosis. Infect Immun 1997 Apr;65(4):1486-96. 51 ref, Eng. Department of Enteric Infections, Division of Communicable Diseases and Immunology, Walter Reed Army Institute of Research, Building 40, Washington, DC 20307-5100, USA

246. Fewtrell L, Kay D, Wyer M, O'Neill G. An investigation into the possible links between shigellosis and hepatitis A and public water supply disconnections. Public Health 1997 May;111(3):179-81. 4 ref, Eng. Centre for Research into Environment and Health, 5 Quakers Coppice, Crewe, Cheshire, CW1 6FA, UK

"A retrospective study was conducted to determine if water supply disconnection could be implicated as a causative factor in the incidence of laboratory confirmed cases of shigellosis and hepatitis A in the Hull area. Data on all disconnections and cases of shigellosis and hepatitis A, between April 1988 and March 1993, were obtained. Over the period of the study, 908 disconnections took place, there were 1591 cases of shigellosis and 1034 cases of hepatitis A. Whilst there was a statistical correlation between rates of both disease outcomes and rates of disconnection in the 20 Hull postcode areas, a detailed examination of the two data sets failed to identify a causative relationship between disconnection and either illness in any household. A correlation analysis examining for statistical association between sociodemographic factors and illness indicated the importance of the general living standards and the elevated susceptibility of the poor and economically disadvantaged to these two diseases."

247. Fine KD, Meyer RL, Lee EL. The prevalence and causes of chronic diarrhea in patients with celiac sprue treated with a gluten-free diet. Gastroenterology 1997 Jun;112(6):1830-8. 44 ref, Eng. Digestive System Research Unit, Hospital General Vall d'Hebron, Barcelona 08035, Spain

248. Ghosh C, Nandy RK, Dasgupta SK, Nair GB, Hall RH, Ghose AC. A search for cholera toxin (CT), toxin coregulated pilus (TCP), the regulatory element ToxR and other virulence factors in non O1/non-O139 *Vibrio cholerae*. Microbial Pathogen 1997 Apr;22(4):199-208. 51 ref, Eng. Department of Microbiology, Bose Institute, Calcutta 700054, India

249. Ghosh S, Sengupta PG, Mondal SK, Banu MK, Gupta DN, Sircar BK. Risk behavioural practices of rural mothers as determinants of childhood diarrhoea. J Commun Dis 1997 Mar;29(1):7-14. 18 ref, Eng. Division of Epidemiology, National Institute of Cholera & Enteric Diseases, P-33, CIT Road, Scheme XM, Beliaghata, PO Box 177, Calcutta 700010, India

250. Gibson J, Lorenz E, Owen RJ. Lineages within *Campylobacter jejuni* defined by numerical analysis of pulsed-field gel electrophoretic DNA profiles. J Med Microbiol 1997 Jun;46(6):157-63. 17 ref, Eng. Laboratory of Enteric Pathogens, Central Public Health Laboratory, 61 Calindale Avenue, London NW9 5HT, UK

251. Goddard EA, Lastovica AJ, Argent AC. *Campylobacter* **0:41 isolation in Guillain-Barré. Arch Dis Child 1997 Jun;76(6):526-8. 29 ref, Eng.** Department of Paediatrics and Child Health, Institute of Child Health, Red Cross War Memorial Children's Hospital, Rondebosch 7700, South Africa

252. Goepp JG, Katz S, Cuervo E, Reid R, Moran JR, Santosham M. Comparison of two regimens of feeding and oral electrolyte solutions in infants with diarrhea. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1997 Apr;24(4):374-9. 17 ref, Eng. Department of Pediatrics, Division of Pediatrics, Pediatric Emergency Medicine, The Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, CMSC-144, 600 N. Wolfe St., Baltimore, MD 21287-3144, USA

"Background: Glucose-based oral rehydration solutions (ORS) available in the United States do not appear to reduce the severity or duration of diarrhea. The use of cerealderived ORS and cereal-based feedings appears to diminish the severity of illness in studies conducted in the developing world. To our knowledge, no controlled trials of cereal-derived ORS or cereal-based feedings have been performed in the United States. Methods: We performed a randomized, double-blind trial of two ORS feeding regimens in outpatients with diarrhea. Patients aged 2-13 months with acute watery diarrhea were enrolled. Subjects received standard glucose-based ORS in alternation with soy-based, lactose-free infant formula (Group 1) or rice syrup solid containing ORS in alternation with rice-based, lactose-free infant formula (Group 2). Subjects were visited at home daily to determine the severity of illness and characteristics of the stool. **Results**: After the first 2 days, significantly more Group 1 subjects continued to have diarrhea than did Group 2 subjects (median duration of diarrhea 3 vs. 2 days) as demonstrated by Kaplan-Meier survival curves (p=0.04). Conclusion: We conclude that infants fed a regimen consisting of rice syrup solid containing ORS and rice formula resolved their diarrhea sooner than did infants fed a regimen of standard glucose-based ORS with soy formula. The relative contributions of ORS and formula to this more rapid recovery can be elucidated by further studies."

253. Goyal A, Thakur R, Singh T, Kanga A, Sharma V. Incidence of cryptosporidiosis in children with acute and persistent diarrhoea in and around Shimla. J Commun Dis 1997 Mar;29(1):67-8. 8 ref, Eng. Department of Microbiology, Indira Gandhi Medical College, Shimla 171001, India

254. Gro/ndahl ML, Munck LK, Skadhauge E. Regional differences in the effect of mucosal glucose and amino acids on ion transport in normal and cholera toxin stimulated porcine small intestine. Scand J Gastroenterol 1997 May;32(5):478-84. 40 ref, Eng. Department of Anatomy and Physiology, The Royal Veterinary and Agricultural University, 13, Bulowsvej, DK 1870 Frederiksberg C, Denmark

255. Gupta DN, Sircar BK, Sengupta PG, Ghosh S, Banu MK, Mondal SK, Saha DR, De SP, Sikdar SN, Manna B, Dutta S, Saha NC. Epidemiological and clinical profiles of acute invasive diarrhoea with special reference to mucoid episodes: a rural community-based longitudinal study. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 1996 Sep-Oct;90(5):544-7. 19 ref, Eng. National Institute of Cholera and Enteric Diseases, P-33, CIT Road, Scheme XM, Beliaghata, Calcutta 700010, India

"A study was carried out in 3 villages near Calcutta, India, having a population of 5464, between August 1992 and December 1994. A cohort of rural children below 4 years of age was prospectively observed to determine the clinico-epidemiological aspects of mucoid diarrhoea and examine propensity to invasiveness. Overall, the incidence of diarrheoa was 1.7 episodes/child/year, and that of mucoid and bloody dysentery was 0.8 and 0.2 episodes/child/year, respectively. Children aged 6-11 months had a higher incidence of mucoid diarrhoea (1.3 episodes/child/year) and the peak season occurred in June and July. Multivariate analysis using logistic regression showed that mucoid diarrhoea and bloody dysentery were closely similar in both clinical and laboratory findings, including raised faecal leucocyte count (>10/high power microscope field [hpf]). However, abdominal pain occurred more frequently in bloody dysentery than in mucoid diarrhoea. Fecal leucocyte count (>10/hpf) can therefore be used as an indicator for invasiveness of mucoid diarrhoea at the community level."

256. Gupta S, Chowdhury R. Bile affects production of virulence factors and motility of *Vibrio cholerae* (note). Infect Immun 1997 Mar;65(3):1131-4. 24 ref, Eng. Biophysics Division, Indian Institute of Chemical Biology, 4 Raja S.C. Mullick Road, Calcutta 700032, India

257. Haider R, Islam A, Hamadani J, Amin NJ, Kabir I, Malek MA, Mahalanabis D, Habte D. [Breast-feeding counseling in a diarrhoeal disease hospital]. Pan Am J Public Health 1997;1(5):355-61. 18 ref, Eng. International Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease Research, Bangladesh, GPO Box 128, Dhaka 1000, Bangladesh

"Lactation counsellors were trained to advise mothers of partially breast-fed infants who were admitted to hospital because of diarrhoea, so that they could start exclusive breast-feeding during their hospital stay. Infants (n = 250) up to 12 weeks of age were randomized to intervention and control groups. Mothers in the intervention group were individually advised by the counsellors, while mothers in the control group received only routine group health education. During follow-up at home by the coun- sellors a week later, only the mothers in the intervention group were counselled. All the mothers were evaluated for infant feeding practices at home two weeks after discharge. Among the 125 mother-infant pairs in each group, 60% of mothers in the intervention group were breast-feeding exclusively at discharge compared with only 6% in the control group (P<0.001); two weeks later, these rates rose to 75% and 8% in the intervention and control groups, respectively (P<0.001). However, 49% of mothers in the control group reverted back to bottle-feeding compared with 12% in the intervention group (P<0.001). Thus, individual counselling had a positive impact on mothers to start exclusive breast-feeding during

hospitalization. and to continue the practice at home. Maternal and child health facilities should include lactation counselling as an integral part of their programmes to improve infant feeding practices."

258. Hale DC, Carroll K, Kucera JR, Aldeen WE. Use of a single slide trichrome-stained concentrate for the detection of intestinal parasites: stained concentration procedure for ova and parasites. Am J Clin Pathol 1996 Aug;106(2):175-9. 17 ref, Eng. Department of Pathology, University of Utah Medical School, Salt Lake City, Utah, UT 84112, USA

259. Hoberman A, Paradise JL, Burch DJ, Valinski WA, Hedrick JA, Aronovitz GH, Drehobl MA, Rogers JM. Equivalent efficacy and reduced occurrence of diarrhea from a new formulation of amoxicillin clavulnanate potassium (Augmentin) for treatment of acute otitis media in children. Pediatr Infect Dis J 1997 May;16(5):463-70. 36 ref, Eng. Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh, One Children's Place, Pittsburgh, PA 15213-2583, USA

260. Huppertz H-I, Rutkowski S, Aleksic S, Karch H. Acute and chronic diarrhoea and abdominal colic associated with enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* in young children living in western Europe. Lancet 1997 Jun 7;349(9066):1660-2. 15 ref, Eng. Universitätskinderklinik, D-97080, Würzburg, Germany

261. Huttly SRA, Morris SS, Pisani V. Prevention of diarrhoea in young children in developing countries. Bull WHO 1997;75(2):163-74. 111 ref, Eng. Maternal and Child Epidemiology Unit, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT, UK

"An updated review of nonvaccine interventions for the prevention of childhood diarrhoea in developing countries is presented. The importance of various key preventive strategies (breast-feeding, water supply and sanitation improvements) is confirmed and certain aspects of others (promotion of personal and domestic hygiene, weaning education/food hygiene) are refined. Evidence is also presented to suggest that, subject to costeffectiveness examination, two other strategies - vitamin A supplementation and the prevention of low birth weight - should be promoted to the first category of interventions, as classified by Feachem, i.e. those which are considered to have high effectiveness and strong feasibility."

262. Ibrahim S, Isani Z. Sagodana based verses rice based oral rehydration solution in the management of acute diarrhoea in Pakistani children. J Pak Med Assoc 1997 Jan;47(1):169. 22 ref, Eng. National Institute of Child Health, Jinnah Postgraduate Medical Centre, Karachi 35, Pakistan

263. Iida T, Suthienkul O, Park K-S, Tang G-Q, Yamamoto RK, Ishibashi M, Yamamoto K, Honda T. Evidence for genetic linkage between the *ure* and *trh* genes in *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*. J Med Microbiol 1997 Aug;46(8):639-45. 36 ref, Eng. Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Public Health, Mahidol University, Rajvithi Road, Bangkok 10400, Thailand

264. Ilnyckyj A, Greenberg H, Bernstein CN. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection mimicking Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 1997 Mar;112(3):995-9. 18 ref, Eng. Section of Gastroenterology, University of Manitoba, GB 445 Health Sciences Centre, 820 Sherbrook Street, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada K3A, 1R9

265. Insisiengmay S, Munnalath K, Sithivong N, Sisavath L, Panthouamas B, Chomlasak K, Higa N, Yamashiro T, Nakasone N, Iwanaga M. Etiology of diarrheal diseases and the healthy carrier of enteropathogens in Vientiane, People's Democratic Republic of Lao. Jpn J Trop Med Hyg 1997 Jun;25(2):89-93. 14 ref, Eng. Department of Bacteriology, Faculty of Medicine, University of the Ryukyus, Okinawa 903-01, Japan

266. Ishida S-I, Feng N, Gilbert JM, Tang B, Greenberg HB. Immune responses to individual rotavirus proteins following heterologous and homologous rotavirus infection in mice. J Infect Dis 1997 Jun;175(6):1317-23. 41 ref, Eng. Standford University, School of Medicine, Lab Surge, P304, Standford, CA 94305-5487, USA

267. Islam MS, Hossain MZ, Khan SI, Felsenstein A, Sack RB, Albert MJ. Detection of nonculturable *Shigella dysenteriae* 1 from artificially contaminated volunteers' fingers using fluorescent antibody and PCR techniques. J Diarrhoeal Dis Res 1997 Jun;15(2):65-70. 29 ref, Eng. International Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease Research, Bangladesh, GPO Box 128, Dhaka 1000, Bangladesh

"Epidemiological studies have demonstrated that hands may be an important vehicle for transmission of shigellosis. The present study was carried out to find out the survival potential of *Shigella dysenteriae* 1 on fingers of volunteers. Finger surface was inoculated with 10⁵ cfu of *S. dysenteriae* 1 and then the bacteria were detected using conventional culture, PCR and fluorescent antibody (FA) techniques after different time intervals. It was found that *S. dysenteriae* 1 survived for up to one hour in culturable form but up to four hours in non-culturable form on human fingres. The non-culturable *S. dysenteriae* was detected by PCR and FA techniques. This study elaborates on the role that fingers have in the transmission of shigellae."

268. Islam MS, Alam MJ, Begum A, Rahim Z, Felsenstein A, Albert MJ. Occurrence of culturable *Vibrio cholerae* O139 with *ctx* gene in various components of the aquatic environment in Bangladesh [short report]. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 1997 Mar-Apr;90(2):128. 8 ref, Eng. International Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease Research, Bangladesh, GPO Box 128, Dhaka 1000, Bangladesh

269. Izumiya H, Terajima J, Wada A, Inagaki Y, Itoh K-I, Tamura K, Watanabe H. Molecular typing of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 isolates in Japan by using pulsedfield gel electrophoresis. J Clin Microbiol 1997 Jul;35(7):1675-80. 16 ref, Eng. Department of Bacteriology, National Institute of Health, Toyama 1-23-1, Shinjuku, Tokyo 162, Japan

270. Jan A, Rafi M, Mustafa S, Rasmussen ZA, Thobani S, Badruddin SH. Evaluation of dowdo (wheat-milk gruel) in children with acute diarrhoea. J Pak Med Assoc 1997 Jan;47(1):12-6. 24 ref, Eng. The Aga Khan University, Stadium Road, Karachi, Pakistan

271. Jesudason MV, Saaya R. Resistance of *Vibrio cholerae* 01 to nalidixic acid. Indian J Med Res 1997 Apr;105:153-4. 11 ref, Eng. Department of Microbiology, Christian Medical College and Hospital, Vellore 632004, India

272. Kenny B, Abe A, Stein M, Finlay BB. Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* protein secretion is induced in response to conditions similar to those in the gastrointestinal tract. Infect Immun 1997 Jul;65(7):2606-12. 45 ref, Eng. Biotechnology Laboratory, Room 237 Wesbrook Building, 6174 University Blvd., Vancouver, B.C. Canada V6t 1Z3

273. Kesah CN, Coker AO, Alabi SA, Olukoya DK. Prevalence, antimicrobial properties and ß-lactamase production of haemolytic enterobacteria in patients with diarrhoea and urinary tract infections in Lagos, Nigeria. Cent Afr J Med 1996 May;42(5):147-50. 15 ref, **Eng.** Department of Medical Microbiology and Parasitology, College of Medicine, University of Lagos, Yaba, Lagos

274. Klee SR, Tzschaschel BD, Singh M, Fält I, Lindberg AA, Timmis KN, Guzman CA. Construction and characterization of genetically-marked bivalent anti-*Shigella dysenteriae* 1 and anti-*Shigella flexneri* Y live vaccine candidates. Microbial Pathogen 1997 Jun;22(6):363-76. 56 ref, Eng. Division of Microbiology, GBF-National Research Centre for Biotechnology, Mascherober Weg 1, D-38124 Braunschweig, Germany

275. Kolavic SA, Kimura A, Simons SL, Slutsker L, Barth S, Haley CE. An outbreak of *Shigella dysenteriae* type 2 among laboratory workers due to intentional food contamination. JAMA 1997 Aug 6;278(5):396-8. 18 ref, Eng. Foodborne and Diarrheal Diseases Branch, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Mailstop A-38, 1600 Clifton Road, Atlanta, GA 30333, USA

276. Koopmans MPG, Goosen ESM, Lima AAM, Mcauliffe IT, Nataro JP, Barrett LJ, Glass RI, Guerrant RI. Association of torovirus with acute and persistent diarrhea in children. Pediatr Infect Dis J 1997 May;16(5):504-7. 12 ref, Eng. Research Laboratory for Infectious Diseases, National Institute of Public Health and Environmental Protection, PO Box 1, 3720BA Bilthoven, The Netherlands

"Objective. To study the etiologic role of toroviruses as a cause of gastroenteritis in humans. Methods. The design was a case-control study. We compared the rate of torovirus detection in fecal specimens from a selection of children with acute or persistent diarrhea and controls without diarrhea from a study of childhood diarrhea in an urban Brazilian slum. Stool samples were coded and tested in a blinded fashion for the presence of torovirus antigen by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, other enteropathogens, toxins and fecal leukocytes. Results. Thirty-three children with acute diarrhea, 41 children with persistent diarrhea and 17 controls were enlisted in the study. Torovirus antigen was detected in 9 (27%) samples from children with acute diarrhea, 11 (27%) samples from children with persistent diarrhea and none of the samples from controls (P<0.05). In addition the presence of enteroaggregative E. coli was associated with persistent diarrhea and the presence of Cryptosporidium oocysts was common although not significant (P=0.08); torovirus and Cryptosporidium occurred in different subsets of samples, whereas torovirus and enteroaggregative Escherichia coli were commonly found in combination. Conclusions. These data indicate that toroviruses, alone or in combination with enteroaggregative E. coli, may play a pathogenic role in acute and possibly persistent diarrhea. Further studies are warranted to determine the etiologic role of toroviruses in gastroenteritis."

277. Kühn I, Albert MJ, Ansaruzzaman M, Bhuiyan NA, Alabi SA, Islam MS, Neogi PKB, Huys G, Janssen P, Kersters K, Möllby R. Characterization of *Aeromonas* spp. isolated from humans with diarrhea, from healthy controls, and from surface water in Bangladesh. J Clin Microbiol 1997 Feb;35(2):369-73. 36 ref, Eng. International Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease Research, Bangladesh, GPO Box 128, Dhaka 1000, Bangladesh

"Aeromonas isolates from patients with diarrhea in Bangladesh (n = 69), from healthy controls (n = 11), and from surface water (n = 40) were analyzed with respect to their hybridization groups (HGs) by the aid of fatty acid methyl ester (FAME) characterization and DNA fingerprinting by AFLP, biochemical phenotypes (PhenePlate [PhP] types), and the production of hemolysin and cytotoxin. The aim of the investigation was to find out whether certain strains carrying virulence factors predominated among patient isolates. According to FAME and/or AFLP analysis, most human isolates were allocated to DNA HGs 4 (Aeromonas caviae) and 1 (A. hydrophila). Most environmental strains were

allocated to HG8 (*A. veronii* biogroup *sobria*) and HG4 (*A. caviae*), and only one was of HG1. According to PhP typing, the diversity among patient isolates was lower than that among other strains, and two dominating PhP types (types BD-1 and BD-2) were identified in 29 and 30% of the patient isolates, respectively. PhP type BD-1 was also common among the environmental isolates, whereas PhP type BD-2 was only identified in two of the other isolates. Twentv-five of 26 isolates belonging to HG1 were of the same PhP type (BD-2), whereas isolates of other common HGs were more diverse according to their PhP types. Hemolytic and cytotoxin-producing strains occurred more frequently among the environmental isolates than among patient isolates. However, the hemolytic and cytotoxic activities among human isolates was strongly correlated to the HG1/BD-2 type, which, in addition, showed high cytotoxin titers (median values. 1/512 compared to 1/128 for cytotoxin-positive isolates belonging to other types). Thus, the HG1/BD-2 type may represent a pathogenic *A. hydrophila* type that is able to produce diarrhea in humans."

278. Kundi MZ, Ahmad I, Anjum M. Evaluation of diarrhoea management of health professionals trained at the diarrhoea training unit of Rawalpindi General Hospital. J Pak Med Assoc 1997 Jan;47(1):3-6. 11 ref, Eng. Department of Paediatrics, Rawalpindi Medical College, Rawalpindi General Hospital, Rawalpindi, Pakistan

279. Lai L-C, Wainwright LA, Stone KD, Donnenberg MS. A third secreted protein that is encoded by the enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* pathogenicity island is required for transduction of signals and for attaching and effacing activities in host cells. Infect Immun 1997 Jun;65(6):2211-7. 50 ref, Eng. Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, University of Maryland School of Medicine, 10 S. Pine St., Baltimore, MD 21201, USA

280. Lesmana M, Richie E, Subekti D, Simanjuntak C, Walz SE. Comparison of directplating and enrichment methods for isolation of *Vibrio cholerae* from diarrhea patients. J Clin Microbiol 1997 Jul;35(7):1856-8. 13 ref, Eng. U.S. Naval Medical Research Unit no. 2, Jakarta, Bos 3 APO AP 96520-8132, Indonesia

281. Losonsky GA, Lim Y, Motamedi P, Comstock LE, Johnson JA, Morris, JG, Jr., Tacket CO, Kaper JB, Levine MM. Vibriocidal antibody responses in North American volunteers exposed to wild-type or vaccine *Vibrio cholerae* O139: specificity and relevance to immunity. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 1997 May;4(3):264-9. 27 ref, Eng. Center for Vaccine Development, Health Science Faculty, 685 West Baltimore St., Baltimore, MD 21201, USA

282. Lu SS. Pathophysiology of HIV-associated diarrhea. Gastroenterol Clin North Am 1997 Jun;26(2):175-89. 103 ref, Eng. St. Luke's-Rousevelt Hospital Center, Department of Gastroenterology, 1000 Amsterdam Avenue, New York, NY 10019, USA

283. Mann BJ, Burkholder BV, Lockhart LA. Protection in a gerbil model of amebiasis by oral immunization with *Salmonella* expressing the galactose/N-acetyl D-galactosamine inhibitable lectin of *Entamoeba histolytica*. Vaccine 1997 Apr/May;15(6/7):659-63. 28 ref, Eng. Department of Internal Medicine, MR4 Building, Room 2115, University of Virginia, School of Medicine, Charlottesville, VA 22908, USA

284. Mead PS, Finelli L, Lambert-Fair MA, Champ D, Townes J, Hutwagner L, Barrett T, Spitalny K, Mintz E. Risk factors for sporadic infection with *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. Arch Intern Med 1997 Jan 27;157(2):204-8. 15 ref, Eng. National Center for Infectious Diseases, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Mailstop A-38, Atlanta, GA 30333, USA 285. Midorikawa Y, Nakamura S, Iwade Y, Sugiyama A, Sisavath L, Phakhounthong R. Bacterial diarrhea in Laos, a region where cholera was endemic. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health 1996 Dec;27(4):724-7. 9 ref, Eng. Suzuka University of Medical Science and Technology, Kishioka Suzuka, Mie 510-02, Japan

286. Mo/Ibak K, Jensen H, Ingholt L, Aaby P. Risk factors for diarrheal disease incidence in early childhood: a community cohort study from Guinea-Bissau. Am J Epidemiol 1997 Aug 1;146(3):273-82. 47 ref, Eng. Department of Epidemiology Research, Danish Epidemiology Science Center, Statens Serum Institut, Copenhagen, Denmark

"To determine risk factors for diarrhea, the authors followed an open cohort of 1,314 children from Guinea-Bissau by weekly diarrhea recall interviews between April 1987 and March 1990. Data on feeding practices and measles infection were available for all children and, for 531 children, comprehensive data on explanatory variables were recorded. Of 57 variables, seven were independently associated with an increased incidence of diarrhea. These were a recent (in the past 14 days) diarrheal episode, male sex, being weaned from breast milk, not being looked after by the mother, head of the household being <30 years old, eating cold leftovers, and drinking water from an unprotected public water supply. In breastfed children, only three variables were associated with diarrhea, including prior diarrhea, male sex, and not being looked after by the mother. Among weaned children, six variables delineated increased rates of diarrhea, including unprotected public water supply, eating of cold leftovers, and lack of maternal education. Major determinants of persistent diarrhea included weaning, lack of maternal education, and having pigs in the home. It is concluded that, in addition to the promotion of breastfeeding, important interventions against diarrhea include improvements in water supply, hygiene, and food handling. However, because of effect modification by breastfeeding, the largest effects of these interventions wil probably be among weaned children.

287. Neild PJ, Nelson MR. Management of HIV-related diarrhoea. Int J STD AIDS 1997 May;8(5):286-97. 71 ref, Eng. St. Stephen's Clinic, Chelsea and Westminster Hospital, 369 Fulham Road, London SW10 9NH, UK

288. Nirdnoy W, Serichantalergs O, Cravioto A, LeBron C, Wolf M, Hoge CW, Svennerholm A-M, Taylor DN, Echeverria P. Distribution of colonization factor antigens among enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* strains isolated from patients with diarrhea in Nepal, Indonesia, Peru, and Thailand (note). J Clin Microbiol 1997 Feb;35(2):527-30. 21 ref, Eng. Department of Medical Microbiology & Immunology, University of Goteborg, Guldhedsgatan 10, S-413 46 Göteborg, Sweden

289. Niyogi SK, Dutta P, Mitra U, Pal DK. Association of enterotoxigenic *Bacteroides fragilis* with childhood diarrhoea. Indian J Med Res 1997 Apr;105:167-9. 12 ref, Eng. Division of Microbiology & Clinical Medicine, National Institute of Cholera & Enteric Diseases, P-33, CIT Road Scheme XM, Beliaghata, PO Box 177, Calcutta 700010, India

"This study was conducted in a hospital setting to determine whether enterotoxigenic strains of *Bacteroides fragilis* (ETBF) were associated with childhood diarrhoea. ETBF was isolated from 6 (2.6%) of 226 patients and 3 (1.7%) of 172 controls and was found mostly in children between 1-5 yr of age. The syndrome associated with ETBF was secretory in nature with watery diarrhoea and of mild severity. ETBF may be associated with diarrhoeal illness in children but is not a major problem in this part of the country."

290. Nsungu M, Jonga M. Does a direct cholera threat necessarily improve the knowledge, attitude and practices on the disease? Cent Afr J Med 1996 May;42(5):125-8. 2 ref, Eng. Provincial Medical Director's Office, Mashomaland East. PO Box 10, Marondera, Zimbabwe

291. Osatakul S, Arunchiya S, Puetpaiboon A, Lebel L. Incidence and risk factors for carbohydrate intolerance in Thai infants with acute diarrhea: an outpatient-based study. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health 1996 Dec;27(4):780-4. 17 ref, Eng. Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, Prince of Sonkhla University, Hat Yai, Songkhla 90112, Thailand

292. Pal T, Al-Swehi NA, Herpay M, Chugh TD. Identification of enteroinvasive Escherichia coli and Shigella strains in pediatric patients by an IpaC-specific enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. J Clin Microbiol 1997 Jul;35(7):1757-60. 25 ref, Eng. Department of Microbiology, University Medical School, H-7643 Pecs, Hungary

293. Paniagua M, Espinoza F, Ringman M, Reizenstein E, Svennerholm A-M, Hallander H. Analysis of incidence of infection with enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* in a prospective cohort study of infant diarrhoea in Nicaragua. J Clin Microbiol 1997 Jun;35(6):1404-10. 43 ref, Eng. Swedish Institute for Infectious Disease Control, S-105 21 Stockholm, Sweden

"Diarrheal episodes with enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* (ETEC) were prospectively monitored during the first 2 years of life in a cohort of 235 infants from Leon, Nicaragua. ETEC was an etiological finding in 38% (310 of 808) of diarrheal episodes and in 19% (277 of 1,472) of samples taken as asymptomatic controls at defined age intervals (P=<0.0001). The majority of diarrheal episodes (80%) occurred before 12 months of age. The major ETEC type was characterized by colonization factor CFA I and elaboration of both heat-labile enterotoxin and heat-stable enterotoxin (ST). The proportion of *E. coli* strains with CFA I was significantly higher in cases with diarrhea (P=0.002). The second most prevalent type showed putative colonization factor PCFO166 and production of ST. The prevalence of PCFO166 was approximately 20%, higher than reported before. Children with a first CFA I episode contracted a second ETEC CFA I infection 24% of the time, compared with 46% for ETEC strains of any subtype. Most of the ETEC episodes were of moderate severity, and only 5% (15 of 310) were characterized as severe. In conclusion, our results give valuable information for the planning of intervention studies using ETEC vaccines."

294. Polotsky Y, Nataro JP, Kotler D, Barrett TJ, Orenstein JM. HEp-2 cell adherence patterns, serotyping, and DNA analysis of *Escherichia coli* isolates from eight patients with AIDS and chronic diarrhea. J Clin Microbiol 1997 Aug;35(8):1952-8. 51 ref, Eng. Department of Pathology, Ross Hall 502, 2300 Eye St., N.W., Washington, DC 20037, USA

"Three morphologic patterns of interaction between bacteria and enterocytes have been observed in colonic biopsy specimens from AIDS patients with chronic diarrhea in the United States. The DNA encoding virulence factors and the HEp-2 cell adherence patterns of *Escherichia coli* strains isolated from the stools of eight symptomatic AIDS patients were compared with those of five control strains with known adherence patterns. One clinical Isolate from a patient with attaching-and-effacing enteropathy displayed the localized adherence attaching-and-effacing pattern typical of enteropathogenic *E. coli* on HEp-2 cells, five isolates displayed the "stacked-brick" aggregative adherence pattern typical of enteroaggregative *E. coli* strains, and one isolate showed the pattern characteristic of diffusely adherent *E. coli*. One patient's isolate displayed features of all three patterns. No clinical isolate hybridized with standard probes for enteropathogenic, enteroaggregative, diffusely adherent, enterotoxigenic, and enteroinvasive *E. coli* strains. Thus, isolates from symptomatic AIDS patients in the United States can display the same interactive patterns with HEp-2 cells as the agents of pediatric or traveler's diarrhea, but lack their typical virulence factors."

295. Qadri F, Jonson G, Begum YA, Wennerås C, Albert MJ, Salam MA, Svennerholm A-M. Immune response to the mannose-sensitive hemagglutinin in patients with cholera due to *Vibrio cholerae* O1 and O139. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 1997 Jul;4(4):429-34. 36 ref, Eng. International Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease Research, Bangladesh, GPO Box 128, Dhaka 1000, Bangladesh

"The mannose-sensitive hemagglutinin (MSHA) is a type 4 pilus present in Vibrio cholerae O1 strains of the EI Tor biotype, as well as in strains of serogroup O139. It has been shown to be a colonization antigen in animal models. The aim of this study was to investigate systemic and local antibody responses to MSHA in adult patients with cholera due to V. cholerae O1 and O139. Twenty-four of 28 (86%) patients with O1 cholera and 11 of 17 (65%) patients with O139 cholera showed significant increases in MSHA-specific immunoglobulin A (IgA) and IgM antibody-secreting cells (ASCs) 7 days after the onset of disease. However, the magnitude of the ASC response in O1 cholera patients was significantly higher than that in the O139 cholera patients in both IgA-producing (P=0.015) and IgM-producing (P=0.029) cells. Both groups of patients responded with antibody responses to MSHA in plasma, seroconverting with both IgA (63 to 70% of patients) and IgG (43 to 59% of patients) antibodies. Compared to the MSHA-specific antibody levels determined in healthy controls (n=10), more than 90% of 01 and 0139 cholera patients showed responses to MSHA of both the IaA and the IaG isotypes. About 70% of the patients in both groups also had antibody responses to MSHA in their feces. In summary, we demonstrated that MSHA is immunogenic, giving rise to both systemic and local antibodies in patients with cholera due to both O1 and 0139 serogroups."

296. Radnedge L, Davis MA, Youngren B, Austin SJ. Plasmid maintenance functions of the large virulence plasmid of *Shigella flexneri*. J Bacteriol 1997 Jun;179(11):3670-5. 33 ref, Eng. Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, Bethesda, MD 20814-4799, USA

297. Rochelle PA, de Leon R, Stewart MH, Wolfe RL. Comparison of primers and optimization of PCR conditions for detection of *Cryptosporidium parvum* and *Giardia lamblia* in water. Appl Environ Microbiol 1997 Jan;63(1):106-14. 36 ref, Eng. Water Quality Laboratory, Metropolitan Water District of Southern California, 700 Moreno Ave., La Verne, CA 91750-3399, USA

298. Rohner P, Pittet D, Pepey B, Nije-Kinge T, Auckenthaler R. Etiological agents of infectious diarrhea: implications for requests for microbial culture. J Clin Microbiol 1997 Jun;35(6):1427-32. 28 ref, Eng. Division des Maladies Infectieuses, Laboratoire Central de Bacteriologie, Hôpital Cantonal de Geneve, 24 Rue Micheli-du-Crest, 1211 Geneva 14, Switzerland

299. Rudra S, Mathur M, Talwar V, Kathuria K. Changing patterns of *Vibrio cholerae* isolation over three consecutive cholera seasons (1992-1994) in East Delhi. J Commun Dis 1997 Mar;29(1):15-22. 16 ref, Eng. Department of Microbiology, University College of Medical Sciences and G.T.B. Hospital, Shahdara, Delhi 110095, India

300. Rudrapatna JS, Kumar V, Sridhar H. Intestinal parasitic infections in patients with malignancy. J Diarrhoeal Dis Res 1997 Jun;15(2):71-4. 19 ref, Eng. Department of Microbiology, Kidwai Memorial Institute of Oncology, Hosur Road, Bangalore 560029, India

"The frequency of intestinal parasitic infections was studied retrospectively in 1,029 cancer patients presenting with symptoms of diarrhoea. Intestinal parasites were diagnosed by stool examination, using both the direct and concentration techniques and also the modified acid fast stain. Parasitic infection was found in 16.5% of the cases. The majority of the patients with intestinal parasitosis had cancer of the haemopoietic system

and were on anticancer chemotherapy. The most prevalent parasites were *Entamoeba histolytica*/*Entamoeba dispar* (8.5%) and *Giardia lamblia* (3.1%). Much more rare were *Strongyloides stercoralis* (0.6%), *Cryptosporidium parvum* (0.3%) and *Isospora belli* (0.1%). All the patients with intestinal parasites were negative for HIV antibodies."

301. Ruel MT, Rivera JA, Santizo M-C, Lönnerdal B, Brown KH. Impact of zinc supplementation on morbidity from diarrhea and respiratory infections among rural Guatemalan children. Pediatrics 1997 Jun;99(6):808-13. 41 ref, Eng. International Food Policy Research Institute, 1200 Seventeenth St. NW, Washington, DC 20036-3006, USA

"Objective. A community-based, randomized, double-blind intervention trial was conducted to measure the impact of zinc supplementation on young Guatemalan children's morbidity from diarrhea and respiratory infections. Methods. Children aged 6 to 9 months were randomly assigned to receive 4 mL of a beverage containing 10 mg of zinc (as zinc sulfate) daily (7 d/wk) for 7 months (n=45) or a placebo (n=44). Morbidity data were collected daily. Diagnoses of diarrhea, fever, and anorexia were based on mothers' definitions. Respiratory infections were defined as the presence of at least two of the following symptoms: runny nose, cough, wheezing, difficulty breathing, or fever. Results. High rates of diarrhea and respiratory infections were reported. Children from the placebo group had a 20% episodic prevalence of diarrhea, with 8 episodes/100 d, and a 7% episodic prevalence of respiratory infections, with 3 episodes/100d. The median incidence of diarrhea among children who received zinc supplementation was reduced by 22% (Wilcoxon rank test), with larger reductions among boys and among children with weight-for-length at baseline lower than the median of the sample (39% reductions in both subgroups). Zinc supplementation also produced a 67% reduction in the percentage of children who had one or more episodes of persistent diarrhea (X^2 test). No significant effects were found on the episodic prevalence of diarrhea, the number of days per episode, or the episodic prevalence or incidence of respiratory infections. Conclusions. The large impact of zinc supplementation on diarrhea incidence suggests that young, rural Guatemalan children may be zinc deficint and that zinc supplementation may be an effective intervention to improve their health and growth."

302.Ryan ET, Butterton JR, Smith RN, Carroll PA, Crean TI, Calderwood SB. Protective immunity against *Clostridium difficile* toxin A induced by oral immunization with a live, **attenuated** *Vibrio cholerae* vector strain. Infect Immun 1997 Jul;65(7):2941-9. 63 ref, Eng. Division of Infectious Diseases, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA 02114, USA

303. Sack DA, Shimko J, Sack RB, Gomes JG, MacLeod K, O'Sullivan D, Spriggs D. Comparison of alternative buffers for use with a new live oral cholera vaccine, Peru-15, in outpatient volunteers. Infect Immun 1997 Jun;65(6):2107-11. 32 ref, Eng. Johns Hopkins University Vaccine Testing Unit, 550 N. Broadway, Suite 1001, Baltimore, MD 21205, USA.

304. Sack DA, Sack RB, Shimko J, Gomes G, O'Sullivan D, Metcalfe K, Spriggs D. Evaluation of Peru-15, a new live oral vaccine for cholera in volunteers. J Infect Dis 1997 Jul;176(1):201-5. 20 ref, Eng. Johns Hopkins University, Vaccine Testing Unit, 550 N. Broadway, Suite 1001, Baltimore, MD 21205, USA

305. Saha DR, Koley H, Ghosh AN, Nair GB. Sequential changes in gut mucosa of rabbits infected with *Vibrio cholerae* 0139 Bengal: an ultrastructural study. J Diarrhoeal Dis Res 1997 Jun;15(2):59-64. 24 ref, Eng. Department of Electron Microscopy, National Institute of Cholera & Enteric Diseases, P-33, CIT Road, Scheme XM, P.B. No. 177, Calcutta 700010, India

"Adhesion and subsequent colonisation are important events in the infection by *Vibrio cholerae* 0139 Bengal. To determine in details the pathological changes in the gut mucosa, an epidemic strain of 0139 Bengal was inoculated in a rabbit ileal loop model.

Electron microscopic studies were done at different time intervals after inoculation of the strain to see the histological changes at the ultrastructural level. From 10 hours onwards, cellular invasive processes with presence of bacteria in the lamina propria and other associated inflammatory changes were revealed."

306. Saniel MC, Zimicki S, Carlos CC, Maria ACS, Balis AC, Malacad CC. Acceptability of rice-based and flavoured glucose-based oral rehydration solutions: a randomized controlled trial. J Diarrhoeal Dis Res 1997 Jun;15(2):47-52. 13 ref, Eng. Research Institute for Tropical Medicine, Department of Health Compound, Alabang, Muntinlupa, Metro Manila, Philippines

"The acceptability of prepackaged rice-based (Oresol-R) and flavoured (Oresol-F) glucose-based oral rehydration salts (ORS) solutions was compared with that of standard glucose-based ORS (Oresol-G) in a randomized field trial. Additionally, it is determined if presenting rice-based ORS as a solution that would help stop diarrhoea (Oresol-K) enhanced its acceptability. A total of 437 non-dehydrated children aged less than five years presenting to health centres with acute diarrhoea were randomly assigned to the three ORS groups. Acceptability was determined by the amounts of ORS consumed at home by children still with diarrhoea on 24- or 48-hour follow-up. The amounts of ORS consumed by children given Oresol-R (54 [95% CL 38-70] mL/kg/24 h) and Oresol-F (47 [24-70]) were similar to the amount of Oresol-G (44 [32-56]). ORS consumption was not affected by the child's age, nutritional status, feeding before the episode, duration of diarrhoea at health centre visit, maternal education and previous ORS use. Inforndng the caretaker that rice-based ORS would help stop diarrhoea did not lead to increased consumption of the solution (Oresol-R 54 [38-70] mL/kg/24 h: Oresol-K 50 [32-68]). Solution preparation was likewise similar among the treatment groups. Reactions to the different ORS types were generally favourable but did not differ between the groups."

307. Sazawal S, Black RE, Bhan MK, Jalla S, Sinha A, Bhandari N. Efficacy of zinc supplementation in reducing the incidence and prevalence of acute diarrhea--a community-based, double-blind, controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 1997 Aug;66(2):413-8. 61 ref, Eng. Department of International Health, School of Hygiene and Public Health, Johns Hopkins University, 615 North Wolfe Street, Room 5039, Baltimore, MD 21205, USA

"A community-based, double-blind, randomized trial was conducted in a population of low socioeconomic status in urban India to determine whether daily zinc supplementation reduces the incidence and prevalence of acute diarrhea, especially in those with zinc deficiency. Children 6-35 mo of age were randomly assigned to zinc (n = 286) and control (n = 293) groups and received a supplement daily for 6 mo. Zinc gluconate (10 mg elemental Zn) was given, with both zinc and control groups also receiving multivitamins. The primary outcome measures determined by home visits every fifth day and physician examinations were the number of acute diarrheal episodes (incidence) and total diarrheal days (prevalence). Zinc supplementation had no effect in children 6-11 mo old. In children aged >11 mo there was significantly less diarrhea in the zinc group. In boys >11 mo old, supplementation resulted in a 26% (95% CI: 13%, 38%) lower diarrheal incidence and a 35% (95% CI: 20%. 50%) lower prevalence. In zinc-supplemented girls >11 mo of age, the incidence was 17% (95% CI: 2%, 30%) lower and the prevalence was 19% (95% Cl: 4%, 47%) lower. Overall, zinc supplementation resulted in a 17% (95% Cl: 1%, 30%) lower diarrheal incidence in children with plasma zinc concentrations <9.18 µmol/L at enrollment and a 33% (95% Cl: 6%, 52%) lower incidence in children with concentrations <50 µmol/L. In conclusion, zinc supplementation had a significant effect on acute diarrheal morbidity in children >11 mo old and in children with low plasma zinc concentrations."

308. Schiller LR, Ana CAS, Porter J, Fordtran JS. Glucose-stimulated sodium transport by the human intestine during experimental cholera. Gastroenterology 1997 May;112(5):1529-**35.** 33 ref, Eng. Department of International Medicine, Baylor University Medical Center, 3500 Gaston Avenue, Dallas, Texas 75246, USA

"Background & Aims: Net sodium absorption from oral rehydration solution is increased by both glucose-sodium cotransport and solvent drag. The aim of this study was to measure the relative importance of glucose-sodium cotransport and solvent drag in the stimulation of net sodium absorption by oral rehydration solution. Methods: Total intestinal perfusion was used in normal subjects with and without intrajejunal cholera toxin using three test solutions containing 100 mmol/L sodium and either 100 mmol/L mannitol (control), 100 mmol/L glucose, or no additional solute (hypotonic solution). The increase in sodium absorption greater than control with hypotonic solution represented sodium absorption stimulated by solvent drag: the further increase in sodium absorption induced by glucose, greater than that noted with the hypotonic solution, represented sodium absorption stimulated by cotransport. *Results*: Without cholera toxin, solvent drag and cotransport promoted sodium absorption at rates of 62 and 33 mmol/h, respectively. With cholera toxin, solvent drag and cotransport promoted sodium absorption at rates of 44 and 71 mmol/h, respectively. Conclusions: Net sodium absorption caused by cotransport increased more than twofold after exposure of the intestine to cholera toxin (P<0.003). This could be mediated by increased cotransport, a change in the stoichiometry of cotransport, or an increase in chloride permeability."

309. Senior BW. Media for the detection and recognition of the enteropathogen *Providencia alcalifaciens* in faeces. J Med Microbiol 1997 Jun;46(6):524-7. 12 ref, Eng. Department of Medical Microbiology, Dundee University Medical School, Ninewells Hospital, Dundee DD1 9SY, UK

310. Serichantalergs O, Nirdnoy W, Cravioto A, LeBron C, Wolf M, Svennerholm A-M, Shlim D, Hoge CW, Echeverria P. Coli surface antigens associated with enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* strains isolated from persons with traveler's diarrhea in Asia [note]. J Clin Microbiol 1997 Jun;35(6):1639-41. 16 ref, Eng. Department of Bacteriology, Immunology and Molecular Genetics, Armed Forces Research Institute of Medical Sciences, APO AP 96546, Bangkok, Thailand

311. Shornikova A-V, Casas IA, Isolauri E, Mykkänen H, Vesikari T. *Lactobacillus reuteri* as a therapeutic agent in acute diarrhea in young children. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1997 Apr;24(4):399-404. 26 ref, Eng. University of Tampere, Medical School, P.O. Box 607, 33101 Tampere, Finland

312. Shornikova A-V, Isolauri E, Burkanova L, Lukovnikova S, Vesikari T. A trial in the Karelian Republic of oral rehydration and *Lactobacillus* GG for treatment of acute diarrhoea. Acta Paediatr 1997 May;86(5):460-5. 16 ref, Eng. University of Tampere, Medical School, PO Box 607, FIN-33101 Tampere, Finland

313. Sinha P, Naik S, Ayyagari A, Naik SR. The effect of *in vitro* bacterial associatin on virulence of *Entamoeba histolytica*. Indian J Med Res 1997 Jun;105:266-70. 20 ref, Eng. Department of Gastroenterology, Sanjay Gandhi Postgraduate Institute of Medical Sciences, Lucknow 226014, India

314. Snijders F, Kuijper EJ, de Wever B, van der Hoek L, Danner SA, Dankert J. Prevalence of *Campylobacter*-associated diarrhea among patients infected with human immunodeficiency virus. Clin Infect Dis 1997 Jun;24(6):1107-13. 34 ref, Eng. Academic Hospital Vrije Universiteit, Inwendige Geneeskunde, PO Box 7057, 1007 MB Amsterdam, The Netherlands

315. Stuart RL, Hellard ME, Jolley D, Spelman D, Hoy J, Stevenson EM, Yates MT, Ryan NJ, Fairley CK. Cryptosporidiosis in patients with AIDS. Int J STD AIDS 1997 May;8(5):339-41.
17 ref, Eng. Department of Epidemiology & Preventative Medicine, Monash Medical School, Alfred Hospital, Prahran, Victoria 3181, Australia

316. Szajewska H, Kantecki M, Albrecht P, Antoniewicz J. Carbohydrate intolerance after acute gastroenteritis--a disappearing problem in Polish children. Acta Paediatr 1997 Apr;86(4):347-50. 17 ref, Eng. Department of Pediatric Gastroenterology & Nutrition, Warsaw Medical School Hospital, 01-184 Warszawa, Dzialdowska 1, Poland

317. Tacket CO, Kotloff KL, Losonsky G, Nataro JP, Michalski J, Kaper JB, Edelman R, Levine MM. Volunteer studies investigating the safety and efficacy of live oral El Tor Vibrio cholerae O1 vaccine strain CVD 111. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1997 May;56(5):533-7. 17 ref, Eng. Center for Vaccine Development, University of Maryland School of Medicine, 10 S. Pine St., Baltimore, MD 21201, USA

318. Townes JM, Quick R, Gonzales OY, Linares M, Damiani E, Bopp CA, Wahlquist SP, Hutwagner LC, Hanover E, Mintz ED, Tauxe RV. Etiology of bloody diarrhea in Bolivian children: implications for empiric therapy. J Infect Dis 1997 Jun;175(6):1527-30. 34 ref, Eng. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Foodborne and Diarrheal Diseases Branch, Mailstop A-38, Atlanta, GA 30333, USA

"In Bolivia, few data are available to guide empiric therapy for bloody diarrhea. A study was conducted between December 1994 and April 1995 to identify organisms causing bloody diarrhea in Bolivian children. Rectal swabs from children <5 years old with bloody diarrhea were examined for *Salmonella, Shigella,* and *Campylobacter* organisms; fecal specimens were examined for *Entamoeba histolytica*. A bacterial pathogen was identified in specimens from 55 patients (41%). *Shigella* organisms were found in 39 specimens (29%); 37 isolates (95%) were resistant to ampicillin, 35 (90%) to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, and 24 (62%) to chloramphenicol, but all were susceptible to nalidixic acid. Only 1 of 133 stool specimens contained *E. histolytica* trophozoites. Multidrug-resistant *Shigella* species are a frequent cause of bloody diarrhea in Bolivian children; *E. histolytica* is uncommon. Clinical predictors described in this study may help identify patients most likely to have *Shigella* infection. Laboratory surveillance is essential to monitor antimicrobial resistance and guide empiric treatment."

319. Tripuraneni J, Koutsouris A, Pestic L, de Lanerolle P, Hecht G. The toxin of diarrheic shellfish poisoning, okadaic acid, increases intestinal epithelial paracellular permeability. Gastroenterology 1997 Jan;112(1):100-8. 32 ref, Eng. Department of Medicine, 840 South Wood Street, CSB Room 1115, University of Illinois, Chicago, Illinois 60612, USA

320. Troll H, Marti H, Weiss N. Simple differential detection of *Entamoeba histolytica* and *Entamoeba dispar* in fresh stool specimens by sodium acetate-acetic acid-formalin concentration and PCR. J Clin Microbiol 1997 Jul;35(7):1701-5. 31 ref, Eng. Swiss Tropical Institute, Socinstr, 57,4002 Basel, Switzerland

321. Tshikuka J-G, Gray-Donald K, Scott M, Olela KN. Relationship of childhood proteinenergy malnutrition and parasite infections in an urban African setting. Trop Med Int Health 1997 Apr;2(4):374-82. 46 ref, Eng. School of Dietetrics and Human Nutrition, McGill University - Macdonald Campus, 21,111 Lakeshore Road, Ste. Anne De Bellevue H9X 3V9, PQ, Canada **322.** Tsubokura K, Berndtson E, Bogstedt A, Kaijser B, Kim M, Ozeki M, Hammarstrom L. Oral administration of antibodies as prophylaxis and therapy in *Campylobacter jejuni*-infected chickens. Clin Exp Immunol 1997 Jun;108(3):451-5. 18 ref, Eng. Department of Clinical Immunology, Huddinge Hospital, S-14186 Huddinge, Sweden

323. Vaandrager AB, Bot AGM, de Jonge HR. Guanosine 3',5'-cyclic monophosphatedependent protein kinase II mediates heat-stable enterotoxin-provoked chloride secretion in rat intestine. Gastroenterology 1997 Feb;112(2):437-43. 23 ref, Eng. Department of Biochemistry, Erasmus University Rotterdam, P.O. Box 1738, 3000 DR Rotterdam, The Netherlands

324. Venczel LV, Arrowood M, Hurd M, Sobsey MD. Inactivation of *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts and *Clostridium perfringens* spores by a mixed-oxidant disinfectant and by free chlorine. Appl Environ Microbiol 1997 Apr;63(4):1598-1601. 17 ref, Eng. University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, North Carolina 27599, USA

325. Vugia DJ, Shefer AM, Douglas J, Greene KD, Bryant RG, Werner SB. Cholera from raw seaweed transported from the Philippines to California [note]. J Clin Microbiol 1997 Jan;35(1):284-5. 9 ref, Eng. Division of Communicable Disease Control, California Department of Health Services, 2151 Berkeley Way, Berkeley, CA 94704, USA

326. Walker-Smith JA, Sandhu BK, Isolauri E, Banchini G, van Caillie-Bertrand M, Dias JA, Fasano A, Guandalini S, Hoekstra JH, Juntunen M, Kolacek S, Marx D, Micetic-Turk D, Razenberg MCAC, Szajewska H, Taminiau J, Weizman Z, Zanacca C, Zetterström R. Recommendations for feeding in childhood gastroenteritis. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1997 May;24(5):619-20. 14 ref, Eng. Department of Paediatric Gastroenterology, Royal Free Hospital NHS Trust, Pond Street, London NW3 2QG, UK

327. Wapnir RA, Wingertzahn MA, Moyse J, Teichberg S. Gum arabic promotes rat jejunal sodium and water absorption from oral rehydration solutions in two models of diarrhea. Gastroenterology 1997 Jun;112(6):1979-85. 27 ref, Eng. Department of Pediatrics, North Shore University Hospital, Manhasset, New York 11030, USA

"Background & Aims: We have shown that addition of gum arabic (GA) to a 90 mmol/L sodium-111 mmol/L glucose oral rehydration solution (ORS) enhances its effectiveness for water and electrolyte absorption in normal rats. The present study extends these observations on GA in ORS to two rat models of diarrheal disease. Methods: Juvenile rats were either treated for 1 week with magnesium citrate-phenolphthalein to produce chronic osmotic-secretory diarrhea or luminally exposed to 10 mmol/L theophylline to induce jejunal secretion. In both models jejunal perfusion was used to assess absorption. Results: Addition of 2.5 or 5.0 g/L GA to ORS increased roughly twofold absorption of sodium, potassium, and water in the model of chronic osmotic-secretory diarrhea. Rats perfused with GA-supplemented ORS showed an expansion of the basolateral intercellular spaces between villus absorptive epithelial cells and the lamina propria, reflecting enhanced water and sodium absorption. Similarly, addition of 2.5, 5.0, or 10.0 g/L GA to the ORS neutralized theophylaline-induced abolition of net sodium and potassium absorption and reversed water and glucose malabsorption. Conclusion: These experimental studies in models of diarrhea suggest that GA may be a useful additive to ORS for the potentiation of water and electrolyte absorption."

328. Wapnir RA, Wingertzahn MA, Teichberg S. L-arginine in low concentration improves rat intestinal water and sodium absorption from oral rehydration solutions. Gut 1997 May;40(5):602-7. 39 ref, Eng. Department of Pediatrics, North Shore, University Hospital, Manhasset, New York 11030, USA

"Background - The nitric oxide (NO) precursor L-arginine has been shown to produce variable effects on intestinal absorptive function, including ion transport. Aims - To determine whether there is an optimal concentration of L-arginine, promoting proabsorptive effects from oral rehydration solutions (ORS) with 90 or 60 mM sodium. Subjects and methods - In vivo perfusion of rat jejunum with determination of net water absorption, unidirectional fluid exchanges, sodium and calcium transport, and glucose absorption. Results - L-Arginine (1 mM) added to the 90 mM sodium ORS increased intestinal absorption of both sodium and water. Higher concentrations of L-arginine (2 to 10 mM) lacked this stimulatory effect. At 20 mM, L-arginine decreased sodium absorption below baseline. With a 60 mM sodium ORS, 2 mM L-arginine had a maximal fluid and electrolyte proabsorptive effect. At 20 mM L-arginine, net water absorption was indistinguishable from that obtained in the absence of L-arginine, and lower than with 2 mM L-arginine. Sodium absorption remained raised above baseline in perfusions with 10 and 20 mM L-arginine. Morphologically, villi from perfusions with increased absorption showed a large expansion of intercellular and lamina propria intercellular spaces. Conclusions - Low concentrations of L-arginine seem to stimulate water and electrolyte absorption by the small intestine. This effect is consistent with NO induced vasodilation, whereas higher L-arginine concentrations may be vasoconstrictive and thereby reverse fluid and electrolyte transport."

329. Wassenaar TM. Toxin production by *Campylobacter* spp. Clin Microbiol Rev 1997 Jul;10(3):466-76. 122 ref, Eng. Institute of Medical Microbiology and Hygiene, Johannes Gutenberg University, Hochhaus am Augustusplatz, 55101 Mainz, Germany

330. Yamamoto T, Nakazawa M. Detection and sequences of the enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* heat-stable enterotoxin 1 gene in enterotoxigenic *E. coli* strains isolated from piglets and calves with diarrhea. J Clin Microbiol 1997 Jan;35(1):223-7. 39 ref, Eng. Department of Infectious Diseases and Tropical Medicine, Research Institute, International Medical Center of Japan, 1-21-2 Toyama, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo, Japan

331. Yamanaka H, Nomura T, Fujii Y, Okamoto K. Extracellular secretion of *Escherichia coli* heat-stable enterotoxin I across the outer membrane. J Bacteriol 1997 Jun;179(11):3383-90. 34 ref, Eng. Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Tokushima Bunri University, Yamashiro, Tokushima, Tokushima 770, Japan

332. Yu Y, Chadee K. *Entamoeba histolytica* stimulates interleukin 8 from human colonic epithelial cells without parasite-enterocyte contact. Gastroenterology 1997 May;112(5):1536-47. 45 ref, Eng. Institute Parasitology, McGill University, 21222 Lakeshore road, St-Anne de Bellevue, Quebec, Canada H9X 3V9

JOURNAL OF DIARRHOEAL DISEASES RESEARCH

Volume 15 Number 3

September 1997

CONTENTS

ORIGINAL PAPERS

- 155 Persistent Diarrhoea in Nigerian Children Aged Less Than Five Years: A Hospital-Based Study. Olugbemiro Sodeinde, Adebowale A Adeyemo, Rasheed A Gbadegesin, and Olusegun G Ademowo
- 161 Breast-feeding Promotion in a Diarrhoea Programme in Rural Communities. Anita A Davies-Adetugbo, K Adetugbo, Y Orewole, and A K Fabiyi
- 167 Grandma Ahead of Her Time: Traditional Ways of Diarrhoea Management in Lesotho. Stina Almroth, Makhamokha Mohale, and Michael C Latham
- 173 Isolation of Escherichia coli to Detect Faecal Contamination of Infants and Their Mothers in West Bengal. S Dutta, SK Mondal, MR Saha, PG Sengupta, DN Gupta, S Ghosh, and BK Sircar
- 177 Snow Mountain-Like Virus Identified in Young Children with Winter Vomiting Disease in South Africa. A Duncan Steele, Jim Phillips, Therésa K Smit, Ina Peenze, and Xi Jiang

FROM THE INTERNET

- 183 Introduction
- 184 WHO Vaccine Research Development Steering Committee: Diarrhoeal Diseases
- 190 Multidrug-Resistant Enteroaggregative Escherichia coli Associated with Persistent Diarrhoea in Kenyan Children

BIBLIOGRAPHY ON DIARRHOEAL DISEASES

- 193 Contents
- 195 Bibliography
- v Author index
- viii Source index

INFORMATION FOR CONTRIBUTORS